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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.
The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is
a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any
loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of TREE Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that
to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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QHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FEHRE

To our Shareholders

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) | am pleased to present the
first annual report of TREE Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 March 2018
after the successful listing of the Company’s shares on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 25 January 2018
(the “Listing”) by way of share offer (the “Share Offer”). The successful listing
marks a milestone for the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

Our Group is one of the leading lifestyle furniture and home furnishing companies in
Hong Kong. Established and headquartered in Hong Kong and operating under the
brand name “TREE", the Group engages in (i) the sales and distribution of furniture
and home accessories; (i) consignment sales, (iii) the distribution and licensing of
the Group's intellectual property rights; (iv) the provision of styling and consulting
services; and (v) the operation of the TREE Café at the Group's flagship store in
Ap Lei Chau (the “Flagship Store”).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the total revenue of the Company was
HK$79.1 million, an increase of HK$1.8 million attributable to an increase of
overall sales. The gross profit margin remains similar at approximately 68%. We
do however operate in an increasingly competitive landscape the short term
profitability of the Company has been impacted by the incremental costs of the
successful IPO.

The net proceeds from the Listing will however assist in the implementation of
the Group's business strategies as stated in the prospectus of the Company
dated 12 January 2018 (the “"Prospectus”). We have already expanded our head
count to allow for expansion plans and will continue to invest in people, new
stores and systems to support our strategic plans as outlined.

We are pleased to have already opened a new store in Yuen Long and are
expanding our project “non- retail” home furnishing business.

THE FUTURE

We expect that our industry will continue to be a challenging industry here in
Hong Kong with increasing competition. We do however look forward to
strengthening our capabilities and maximizing our growth opportunities. The
group is proud of the TREE brand and the associated equity with the brand name
built up over the last twenty years and look forward to building on this both here
in Hong Kong and in mainland China.

The increase in equity interest through the Share Offer will lower our Group's
gearing ratio and strengthen our Group's financial position in the future.

THE FINAL NOTE

On behalf of the Board we would like to thank the staff of TREE, our suppliers,
partners and of course our customers for their valued support of TREE at this
exciting stage of our growth — on GEM of the Stock Exchange — and beyond.

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman
13 June 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBNWEDN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Headquartered in Hong Kong and operating under the brand name “TREE", we
engage in (i) the sale and distribution of furniture and home accessories; (ii)
consignment sales; (iii) the distribution and licencing of our intellectual property
rights; (iv) the provision of styling and consulting services; and (v) the operation
of TREE café in our Flagship Store. We offer a variety of (i) furniture including
tables, chairs, storage solutions, sofas and beds; and (ii) home accessories
including kitchenware, bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions,
mattresses, utensils and baskets.

As at the date of this annual report, we operated three “TREE" retail stores in
Hong Kong namely, our Flagship Store, our Sha Tin store which we opened in
October 2016, and our Yuen Long store which we opened in May 2018

During the year ended 31 March 2018, we generated revenue from the (i) sale of
furniture and home accessories; (i) distribution and license fee income; (iii)
operation of TREE Café; (iv) consignment sales of home accessories; and (v)
provision of styling and consulting services. The table below sets forth a
breakdown of our revenue for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017:

¥ EIRE

BB N BB A [TREE] MR EEER - %
H(IEERDHERALRKERL : (I)|TEHE : (i)
D8 ET A A AN ERE ¢ (VIR BERRET RGE AR
5 R (v R AP A BE A G P A4S & TREE Café o 1M
RUZEIRE  BEEE - WARRFR 2
BRIK: RRERES  PEEBEASR - KA
EEEESR BT 2 KB BEARET-

RAFHRBH - BMREBLE =K [TREE] =&
JE - BNFERETE - R2016F10ARENLEHIER
20184 5 AR A TEATE ©

HE2018F3ANHLIEFE - HFHKESRE ()15
EXRERKEEE : (i) 8 RAra B U A (i)
%&ETHEE Café : (VHEHERBME : R IEHE

RET RFEART o TR ERMIOBZE20185F &
201763 A 31 BIEFEMIRERRAAR

Year ended 31 March
BZE3ANALEE

2018 2017

2018 ¢ 2017 48

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Sale of furniture and home accessories HERENKER 73,414 70,373
Distribution and license fee income S8 LRI REE A 3,504 2,720
Food and beverage income B R A 1,641 3,852
Commission income el 202 271
Consulting income A 312 100
79,073 77,316

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (“FY2018"), our revenue amounted to
approximately HK$79.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$1.8 million or 2.3% from approximately HK$77.3 million for year ended 31
March 2017 ("FY2017"). Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
the sale of furniture and home accessories and distribution and license fee
income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Sale of furniture and home accessories

TREE primarily sells its products to (i) retail customers who visited our retail
stores, being the Direct Sales; and (ii) our PRC distributor, being the Distribution
Sales. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our sale of furniture and
home accessories by the Direct Sales and Distribution Sales for FY2018 and

FY2017, respectively.

EEE WD

HEXARREE L
TREEXFZEHERETINLERMEEENTER
FoREEES: RRMOTFESHER - B1H
SHIHE o TREYI 20188 B FE K 2017 M B FE
REEHERDHHEESEPHRARREL L
SR -

FY2018 FY2017
2018 B BUF B 2017 A S
% of total % of total
revenue revenue
from sale from sale
of furniture of furniture
and home and home
Revenue accessories Revenue accessories
EHEREA HEERA
% = JE i & NEN ]
Bz el G
g Bok e Bkt
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FExT Bok FET Btk
Direct Sales HiEHE
Flagship Store FERE G 53,611 73.0 56,974 81.0
Sai Kung store! mEE 2131 29 2,685 38
SoHo store®? Bz - - 2,069 29
Sha Tin store® YWHIES 15,836 21.6 6,242 8.9
Sub-total e 71,578 975 67,970 9.6
Distribution Sales DHEE 1,836 25 2,403 34
Total @t 73,414 100.0 70,373 100.0
Notes: BisE -
(1) Our Sai Kung store ceased operations in May 2018. (1) FEEIER2018F5 AEIEEE -
(2)  Our SoHo store ceased operations in July 2016. (2) HSIER2016E7 AEIELE -
(3) Our Sha Tin store commenced operations in October 2016. (3) PHIER 2016 F 10 ARIAE % -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For FY2018, revenue generated from the Direct Sales amounted to approximately
HK$71.6 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$3.6 million or
5.3% from approximately HK$68.0 million for FY2017. Such increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in sales at our Sha Tin store which operated
for 12 months for FY2018 versus 5.5 months for FY2017, as Sha Tin store was
opened in October 2016, partially offset by the decrease in sales at our Flagship
Store and Sai Kung store.

For FY2018, revenue generated from the Distribution Sales amounted to
approximately HK$1.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.6
million or 23.6% from approximately HK$2.4 million for FY2017.

Distribution and license fee income

We entered distribution agreements with our PRC distributor, and we are entitled
to receive annual non-refundable fees of HK$2.4 million and HK$0.8 million from
our PRC distributor for the distribution of our products in Beijing and Hainan
province, the PRC, respectively. Our distribution and license fee income was
approximately HK$3.5 million for FY2018 and HK$2.7 million for FY2017,
respectively, representing approximately 4.4% and 3.5% of our total revenue for
FY2018 and FY2017, respectively.

We entered into licence agreements with American Tree, Ltd. (“American
Tree") , as detailed in the Prospectus, pursuant to which, we granted an
exclusive licence to American Tree to use certain trademarks and intellectual
property of our Group in the United States and Canada for a term of three years
from the listing date on 25 January 2018 (the “Listing Date"), for a license fee
based on the revenue of American Tree. We recognised license fee income of
approximately HK$24,000 from American Tree for FY2018, while no license fee
from American Tree was recognised for FY2017.

EEE WD
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American Tree 3% (1 —IHA] RER RN X FRASE
EETEERASEENBERSTAIE  BLMA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD

Food and beverage income

Our food and beverage income generated from operating TREE Café in our
Flagship Store was approximately HK$1.6 million and HK$3.9 million for FY2018
and FY2017, respectively. Our Directors believe that the arrangement of serving
food and beverage using disposable utensils at TREE Café and all the food and
beverages sold only for takeaway affected our customers” willingness to
purchase from our TREE Café given that our food factory licence only allows us to
prepare food for sale for human consumption off our premises and therefore
resulted in the decrease in our food and beverage income for FY2018.

Commission income

Our commission income comprised income generated from the sales of
consignment goods. The commission income generated from consignment sales
was approximately HK$0.2 million and HK$0.3 million for FY2018 and FY2017,
respectively.

Consulting income

Our consulting income generated from the provision of styling and consulting
services was approximately HK$0.3 million and HK$0.1 million for FY2018 and
FY2017, respectively. We were engaged and commenced the provision of styling
and consulting services to a property developer for the show flats of two
residential properties located in Ho Man Tin and Tuen Mun for FY2018 while we
provided styling and consulting services to an individual customer in Hainan, the
PRC, for FY2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased to approximately HK$79.1 million for FY2018 from
approximately HK$77.3 million for FY2017, representing a growth of
approximately 2.3%. Such increase was mainly due to the increase in both sale
of furniture and home accessories, and distribution and license fee income
recognised by the Group, growth of the direct sale from our Sha Tin store which
was opened on 24 October 2016, and the entering of the second supplemental
distribution agreement with the Group’s PRC distributor on 27 January 2017 to
expand the distribution network in Hainan province, being offset by the decrease
in the food and beverage income.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our overall gross profit increased to HK$53.6 million for FY2018 from HK$51.0
million for FY2017. Our overall gross profit margin maintained at approximately
67.7% for FY2018.

Our gross profit margin for the sale of furniture and home accessories increased
to approximately 66.3% for FY2018 from approximately 65.1% for FY2017, mainly
attributable to the increase in the average selling price of our furniture sold
during FY2018. Qur gross profit margin for the Distribution Sales increased from
approximately 52.4% for FY2017 to approximately 57.8% for FY2018, mainly
attributable to the increase in average selling price.

Our gross profit margin for the sale of food and beverages decreased to
approximately 53.8% for FY2018 from approximately 54.9% for FY2017.

Selling and marketing expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses comprised of (i) rental payments and related
expenses for our shop premises, warehouses and office; (ii) staff costs
attributable to the salary of our staff engaged in sales and marketing activities;
(iii) marketing expenses; (iv) payment gateway charges attributable to fees for
our payment channels such as credit cards or EPS; and (v) electricity and water
expenses.

For FY2018, our selling and marketing expenses amounted to approximately
HK$34.1 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$1.3 million or
approximately 4.0% from approximately HK$32.8 million for FY2017. Such
increase was mainly due to (i) the increase in rental expenses as a result of our
Sha Tin store which operated 12 months for FY2018 versus 5.5 months for
FY2017; and (ii) the increase in staff costs resulting from the general increment
of salary of our staff for FY2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses comprised (i) staff costs for our administrative staff
and Directors’ emoluments, but excluding share-based compensation expense; (i)
professional fees which included legal fees, consultancy fees and auditor’s
remuneration; (iii) travel expenses; (iv) office expenses; (v) depreciation of our
property, plant and equipment, and amortisation of our intangible assets; (vi)
repairs and maintenance for our trucks and retail stores; (vii) insurance expenses
which included business insurance, vehicle insurance and medical insurance; (viii)
recruitment expenses which included fees to the recruitment agents and
advertisements on websites; (ix) bank charges; and (x) others which included
motor vehicle expenses, donations, net foreign exchange losses and
entertainment expenses.

For FY2018, our administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$11.6
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.5 million or
approximately 4.3% as compared to approximately HK$12.1 million for FY2017.
Such decrease was primarily due to one of our staff was on special leave during
FY2018, and hence lowered our total salaries for FY2018.

Listing-related expenses
We incurred listing-related expenses in the amount of approximately HK$15.7
million and HK$10.1 million for FY2018 and FY2017, respectively.

Share-based compensation expense

Share-based compensation expense of the Group decreased to HK$0.7 million for
FY2018 from approximately HK$2.3 million for FY2017. Share-based
compensation expense was incurred due to the Incentive Shares and the Put
Option granted to Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, a director of the Company, in
June 2015. The decrease was mainly due to the end of the vesting period on 30
June 2017.

Finance costs
Finance costs mainly comprised interest expenses on bank borrowings. Finance
costs were approximately HK$0.3 million and HK$0.1 million for FY2018 and
FY2017 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group increased to approximately HK$1.4 million for
FY2018 from approximately HK$1.0 million for FY2017. The increase was mainly
due to the increase in profit before tax generated by one of the subsidiaries of
our Group.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year amounted to approximately
HK$10.1 million for FY2018. The increase in loss of approximately HK$3.0 million
or 41.3% was attributable to the increase in the non-recurring listing-related
expenses.

Our adjusted net profit for the year after excluding listing-related expenses and
share-based compensation expense amounted to approximately HK$6.3 million
and HK$5.2 million for FY2018 and FY2017 respectively.

KEY FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

Inventories

Our inventories consisted of finished goods and goods in transit which we
purchased from our suppliers. The inventories balance increased to HK$11.4
million as at 31 March 2018 from HK$10.0 million as at 31 March 2017, which
was mainly in line with the change in revenue.

Trade and other receivables

Our trade receivables consisted of trade receivables from customers and payment
vendors. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, our trade receivables amounted to
approximately HK$1.2 million and HK$0.3 million, respectively. The increase by
approximately HK$0.9 million was mainly due to the increase in trade receivables
from our payment vendors.

Our other receivables consisted of rental deposits, utilities deposits, trade
deposits, prepayments, amount due from a related company and prepayment to a
related company. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, our other receivables amounted
to approximately HK$10.5 million and HK$11.1 million, respectively. The
decrease was mainly due to the expense and capitalisation of the prepaid/
deferred IPO costs upon Listing, offset by the increase in prepayment to a related
company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD

Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 March 2018, our pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$0.2 million
represents deposits pledged to a bank to secure a bank borrowing.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand. As at 31 March
2018 and 2017, our cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$36.0 million and HK$2.5 million, respectively. The increase by approximately
HK$33.5 million was mainly due to the net proceeds received from the Share
Offer associated with the Listing.

Trade and other payables

Our trade payables consisted of trade payables to suppliers in relation to the
purchase of goods. There were no credit periods granted by our suppliers. As at
31 March 2018 and 2017, our trade payables amounted to approximately HK$0.2
million and HK$0.3 million, respectively.

Our other payables comprised accrued charges, deposits received in advance
which represented unrecognised revenue from customers where delivery of
products is required and pending, and provision for long services payments. As at
31 March 2018 and 2017, our other payables amounted to approximately HK$8.7
million and HK$9.9 million, respectively. The decrease in other payables was
mainly due to the settlement of the accrued listing-related expenses during the
year.

Interest-bearing borrowings

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, our Group recorded interest-bearing borrowings
of approximately HK$5.3 million and HK$7.6 million, respectively. The decrease
in interest-bearing borrowings was mainly due to the settlement of bank
overdraft during the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$64.7
million, which is financed by total liabilities and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$15.4 million and HK$49.3 million, respectively. The Group's
current ratio at 31 March 2018 was approximately 3.9 compared to approximately
1.3 at 31 March 2017.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2018 was approximately 10.8%
while as at 31 March 2017 was approximately 66.5%. The gearing ratio
decreased significantly as the Group enlarged its capital structure by the receipt
of net proceeds received from the Share Offer associated with the Listing.

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total interest-bearing borrowings
divided by total equity as at the respective reporting date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018 was approximately
HK$1.3 million, which was mainly used for the purchase of motor vehicles and
leasehold improvements.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2018, there were no significant contingent liabilities for the
Group.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2018, the Group's operating lease commitments was
approximately HK$22.2 million (2017: HK$20.2 million).

As at 31 March 2018, there were no capital commitments of the Group related to
purchase of property, plant and equipment (2017: approximately HK$0.5 million).

Charges on group assets

As at 31 March 2018, pledged bank deposits with carrying amount of
approximately HK$0.2 million (2017: nil) and motor vehicle with net book value of
approximately HK$0.4 million (2017: nil) were pledged as securities for the
Group’s certain banking facilities (Note 22).

Segment information
Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed on note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 25 January 2018. There has been no change in the capital structure
of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group only comprises of
ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2018, the Company's issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The companies comprising the Group underwent the reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”) to rationalise the Group’s structure in preparation for the
Listing. Details of the Reorganisation were set out in the section headed
“History, Development and Reorganisation” of the Prospectus. Save for disclosed
in the Prospectus, there was no significant investments, material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies during the year ended 31
March 2018.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets for the coming year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In the course of conducting business, our Group is exposed to various types of
risks, including operational risks, credit risks, liquidity risk and interest rate risks.
Our Group has established a set of risk management policies and measures to
identify, evaluate and manage risks arising from our operations.

The followings set out some of the primary operational risks our Group faces that
may materially and adversely affect our Group's business, financial condition and
results of operation and our risk management measures:

1. Risk of remaining competitive in a highly

fragmented and competitive market

The lifestyle furniture and home furnishing market is highly fragmented
and competitive with low barriers to entry, and there are no specific
market leaders. Our competitors may have greater financial, marketing,
personnel and other relevant resources compared to us. In particular, the
pricing strategies implemented by our competitors may affect the pricing
of our products. If our competitors significantly reduce their product
prices, we may have to reduce our selling prices or engage in further
marketing to remain competitive. This would likely reduce our revenue
and profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Risk of dependent on the shift in customer’s tastes

and preferences

Due to the nature of the furniture retail industry, the customers generally
purchase our products on an infrequent basis. Apart from the PRC
distributor, there is no purchase commitments from our customers and
there is no obligation for them to purchase any products from TREE in the
future. There is a risk that we may not be able to attract new customers
or existing customers to purchase our products if we fail to successfully
track changing customers tastes and preferences and market trends.

Risk of failure in expanding sales network to new
locations in Hong Kong or through online platform

It may take longer than expected for the new stores to reach breakeven or
achieve investment payback, if at all. There is no guarantee that we will
execute our expansion plans according to business strategies in the
Prospectus successfully, or that we will be able to attract more customers
from our expansion. If we fail to execute our expansion plans, our
operations and results of operations will be materially and adversely
affected.

Risk of not entering into any long-term contracts
with our major suppliers

We rely on our major suppliers to supply products to us and we do not
have any long-term contracts with these suppliers. As such, we are
exposed to the risks such as unexpected price fluctuation, shortage of
supply of products, failure to meet our agreed delivery time and refusal to
supply products. In such case, we would have to look for alternative
suppliers and we may not be able to do so in a timely manner and/or at a
similar price with comparable quality. Further, if we fail to replace our
major suppliers when our business relationship is disrupted or terminated,
we may face a shortage in supply of certain products and our business
and results of operations may be adversely affected as a result.

2.
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The Group is also exposed to a variety of financial risks which comprise credit
risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. Details of these financial risks were set
out on note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBNWEDN

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As our Group's revenue and expenses are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$") and most of our Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in
HKS$, which is our functional currency, except for certain overseas purchases,
bank balances and bank borrowings which are denominated in United States
Dollars ("US$"). We do not have a foreign currency hedging policy as the HK$ is
pegged to the US$, and thus, foreign exchange exposure is considered as
minimal. As at 31 March 2018, our Group did not have significant foreign
currency risk from its operation.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 March 2018, the Group had a total of 63 employees. Total staff costs,
(including Directors” emoluments and share-based compensation expense) of
approximately HK$20.4 million for FY2018 (FY2017: HK$22.7 million).

The Group’s remuneration policies were determined with reference to the
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee, as well as the
results of the Group and the market conditions. We have also adopted the share
option scheme which is designed to provide incentives and rewards to our
employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Except for investment in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any significant
investments during the year ended 31 March 2018.

PROSPECTS

The forthcoming financial year is expected to be challenging due to the
competitive market conditions in the industry. In view of this, the management
recognises the need to further enhance the Group’s market presence in Hong
Kong - steps already taken include a new retail store opened in Yuen Long in
May 2018. The Group has also been proactively looking for potential locations to
further open new retail stores and expanding the portfolio and reach of TREE in
the market. The Group also sees increasing opportunities in styling and
consulting services which would help to diversify the Group’s revenue streams
beyond the sale and distribution of furniture and home accessories. With these
measures, the management believes that the Group will be able to maintain
sustainable growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Listing in January 2018, after deducting the
underwriting fees, the Stock Exchange trading fee and the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC") transaction levy and other listing-related
expenses in connection with the Share Offer, were approximately HK$20.3
million.

The actual net proceeds from the issue of new shares of the Company under the
Share Offer was different from the estimated net proceeds of approximately
HK$22.7 million as set out in the Prospectus. The Group adjusted the use of
proceeds in the same manner and in the same proportion as shown in the
Prospectus, which is (i) approximately 71.5% of the total actual net proceeds, or
approximately HK$14.5 million will be used to expand our sales network, (ii)
approximately 10.1% of the total actual net proceeds, or approximately HK$2.1
million, will be used to promote and strengthen brand image and recognition, (iii)
approximately 9.1% of the total actual net proceeds, or approximately HK$1.8
million, will be used to enhance our styling and consulting services and
distribution sales, and (iv) approximately 9.3% of the total actual net proceeds,
or approximately HK$1.9 million, will be used to enhance operational
efficiencies.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 March 2018, the Group has utilised
HK$0.8 million of the actual net proceeds from the Listing for the deposit and
rental of the Yuen Long store opened in May 2018.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENEREER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, aged 47, is our Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Director, Managing Director and a member of our Nomination
Committee. She was appointed as our Director on 9 March 2016, and designated
as our Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director on 6 September 2016. She
joined our Group in February 2010 as our Managing Director. She is also a
Director of TREE Limited. Ms. Babington is responsible for the strategy of our
Group and implementation on an operational level, across all functions including
but not limited to internal management, human resources, marketing,
merchandising, sales and delivery.

Ms. Babington has more than 23 years of experience in the retail industry. From
May 1993 to January 2010, Ms. Babington worked in The Body Shop
International PLC.

In February 1993, Ms. Babington graduated from the University of Central
Lancashire in the United Kingdom with a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Business and Finance. In November 1996, she obtained a Certificate in Applied
Professional Studies from the University of Brighton in the United Kingdom. She
obtained a degree of Master of Arts in Marketing from the Kingston University in
the United Kingdom in October 1998. In November 2003, Ms. Babington
completed the social systems auditor/lead auditor training course provided by
SGS Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. Babington became an Associate (corporate) of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing in the United Kingdom in December 1996. She was also admitted as a
Member of the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom in
November 1998.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (#2582 ), aged 36, is our Executive Director, a member of
our Remuneration Committee and our Compliance Officer. He was appointed as
our Director on 9 March 2016 and designated as our Executive Director on 6
September 2016. He joined our Group in June 2015 as a Director of TREE Limited.
Mr. Tsui is responsible for managing the financial matters of our Group.

Mr. Tsui has more than 11 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
field. Mr. Tsui has been the Chief Executive Officer of AE Majoris Advisory
Company Limited which is principally engaged in the provision of corporate
advisory services, since January 2012. He was the Company Secretary of Noble
House (China) Holdings Limited (now known as Northern New Energy Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8246), a company listed on GEM, from July 2013 to August
2014. From August 2004 to January 2012, Mr. Tsui worked in an international
accounting firm in Hong Kong with his last position as a Manager in auditing.
Mr. Tsui was a Non-Executive Director of CCT Land Holdings Limited (stock code:
261), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from January
2017 to April 2018. Mr. Tsui has been the Company Secretary of Ching Lee
Holdings Limited (stock code: 3728), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since 14 August 2017.

Mr. Tsui graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting in
November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in January 2009 and January 2012, respectively.

In November 2016, the embassy of the Republic of the Uganda in Beijing
appointed Mr. Tsui as Honorary Trade, Tourism and Investment Consultant/
Adviser on China (Hong Kong and Macau SAR).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENEREER

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (&%), aged 58, is our Chairman, our Non-Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee. He was appointed as
our Director on 22 April 2016 and designated as our Chairman and Non-Executive
Director on 6 September 2016, He is also a Director of TREE Limited. He is
responsible for supporting our Group on a strategic level.

Mr. Tong has more than 30 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr.
Tong was an Executive Director of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (stock code: 86), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from December 2003
to January 2016. He also held various senior positions at Sun Hung Kai & Co.
Limited from December 2004 to January 2016 such as the Chief Executive Officer
of its wealth management, brokerage and capital markets and the Chief
Executive Officer of its capital markets and institutional brokerage. Mr. Tong was
also a Director of Bali International Finance Limited (now known as Sun Hung Kai
Structured Finance Limited) from March 2004 to January 2016. From July 2013 to
July 2016, he was an Independent Non-Executive Director of Carry Wealth
Holdings Limited (stock code: 643), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tong was a Non-Executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of Mason Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 273), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2016 to January 2018. He
was Chairman of the Board of Directors of Mason Group Holdings Limited from
April 2016 to September 2016, and Joint Chairman from September 2016 to
January 2018. He was also a substantial shareholder of Mason Group Holdings
Limited since May 2016 to December 2017. Mr. Tong is also an Independent
Director of Jih Sun Financial Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 5820), the
shares of which are listed on the Taipei Exchange in Taiwan.

Mr. Tong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences (Honours) from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1982 and a degree of Master of Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in October 1988. He
was admitted as a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in November 2000 and advanced to fellowship status in November 2005.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Nicole Lucy Haslock, aged 46, is our Founder and our Non-Executive
Director. She was appointed as our Director on 9 March 2016, and designated as
our Non-Executive Director on 6 September 2016. She is also a Director of TREE
Limited. She is responsible for supporting our Group on a strategic level with a
focus on consultancy, styling and retail sales.

Ms. Haslock has more than 10 years of experience in the retail industry. She was
principally responsible for the management of our Group until Ms. Babington
joined our Group in February 2010. Since then, she has continued to support our
Group on a strategic level with a particular focus on consultancy, styling and
retail sales. Since October 2013, Ms. Haslock has been the sole shareholder of
American Tree, which is the licensee under the North America Licence
Agreement and the purchaser under the Master Sale Agreement, and was
incorporated in the State of Washington, the U.S. with a plan to principally
engage in the business of retailing of furniture and home accessories in the U.S.
and Canada. Ms. Haslock has also entered into Ms. Haslock’s Deed of Non-
Competition.

Before founding our Group, Ms. Haslock worked in Allen & Qvery (Hong Kong)
Limited from September 2003 to February 2005 with her last position as an
Associate. From September 1995 to August 2003, Ms. Haslock worked in CMS
Cameron Mckenna Services in the United Kingdom with her last position being a
solicitor.

In June 1993, Ms. Haslock obtained a degree of Bachelor of Laws (Honours) from
the University of Bristol in the United Kingdom. In July 1994, she completed the
legal practice course at the College of Law (now known as the University of Law)
in the United Kingdom. Ms. Haslock was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in
May 2001.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENEREER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (#5328 ), aged 50, was appointed as our
Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also the Chairman
of our Audit Committee and a member of our Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving independent advice to our
Board.

Mr. Yeung has over 20 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management. Mr. Yeung has been the Chief Financial Officer and an Executive
Director of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited ("GCL-Poly”) (stock code: 3800), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since May and
September 2014, respectively, responsible for its financial management and
control. He has also been the Company Secretary of GCL-Poly since March 2017.
Since September 2015, Mr. Yeung has also been a Non-Executive Director of
GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also a director of Millennial Lithium
Corp., a company with its shares listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in Canada.

From May 1994 to March 2014, Mr. Yeung worked at Deloitte China with his last
position being a Partner. From January 2008 to December 2008, Mr. Yeung was a
part-time member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong Kong.

Mr. Yeung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business with a major in Accounting
from Edith Cowan University in Australia in February 1992. He was admitted as
an associate and a certified practising accountant of the Australian Society of
Certified Practising Accountants in February 1992 and January 1996, respectively.
He was also admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in June 1996.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin (& {22 ), aged 57, was appointed as our Independent
Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a member of our Audit
Committee and Nomination committee. He is responsible for giving independent
advice to our Board.

Mr. Tsang has extensive expertise in commercial building and interior
architecture and has over 17 years of experience as a leader of design team in a
broad variety of projects. Mr. Tsang has been a Director of AGC Design Limited
since November 1999.

Mr. Tsang graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree of Bachelor
of Arts (Honours) in Architectural Studies in November 1982 and a degree of
Bachelor of Architecture in November 1985. He also obtained a degree of Master
of Business and Administration from the University of Toronto in Canada in June
1992.

Mr. Tsang was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and elected into membership of the Royal Institute of British Architects in
December 1986 and July 1987, respectively. He was also admitted as a
professional member of the Interior Design Association (Hong Kong) in 2001 and
was a founding member of the World Association of Chinese Architects in April
2004. Mr. Tsang was accredited a PRC Class 1 Registered Architect of the
National Administration Board of Architect Registration (Qualification) in August
2004, and admitted as an APEC Architect by the Central Council of the Asia
Pacific Economic Cooperation in December 2015. He currently holds the
Certificate of Registration of Authorised Person (list of architects) issued by the
Building Authority in Hong Kong and is a registered architect in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang is appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Architects Registration Board for the period from May 2016 to May 2020. He was
also appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the Contractors
Registration Committee Panel from January 2004 to December 2008. He was a
member of the Authorised Persons Registration Committee and the Authorised
Persons Registration Committee Panel of the Buildings Department from January
2006 to December 2011, and an alternate member of the Advisory Committee of
Barrier Free Access of the Buildings Department from July 2007 to July 2009.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENEREER

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth (&% /& 2 ), aged 59, was appointed as our
Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also the Chairman
of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving independent advice to our
Board.

Mr. Sit has over 30 years of experience in the legal profession. He is a practicing
solicitor and Notary Public in Hong Kong. Mr. Sit was the sole-proprietor of
Kenneth Sit, Solicitors from October 2004 to October 2012, and has been the
Managing Partner since October 2012. Mr. Sit has been an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Pokfulam Development Company Limited (stock code: 225),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since October 2005
and Zijin Mining Group Company Limited (stock code: 2899 and 601899), a
company dually listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, since October 2013.

Mr. Sit graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) in 1980 and was awarded the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws by the
University of Hong Kong in July 1981. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in March 1983.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Virginia Katherine Seymour, aged 37, is the head of marketing of TREE
Limited. She is responsible for all marketing communications of TREE Limited.

Ms. Seymour has over 10 years of experience in marketing. Before joining our
Group in June 2015, she worked at Mischief, a trading division of Engine Partners
UK LLP, from April 2012 to April 2015 with her last position as an Associate
Director, responsible for strategic planning, campaign implementation, budget
management and measurement for multiple accounts, and new business, crisis
and issues management. She worked at Murray Weir Willats from April 2006 to
March 2012 with her last position as an Associate Director, responsible for
strategic planning, campaign implementation, budget management and
measurement for multiple accounts, and new business, crisis and issues
management.

Ms. Seymour graduated from Nottingham Trent University with a Bachelor of
Arts (Honours) in Fashion Marketing and Communication in June 2003.

Mr. Kong Chi Tong (ST Z(E ), aged 36, is the Senior Merchandiser of TREE
Limited. He is responsible for product sourcing of TREE Limited.

Mr. Kong has over eight years of experience in merchandising. Before joining our
Group in September 2011, he worked at a number of companies, including (i)
0VO Limited from April 2006 to February 2008 as a Merchandiser; and (i) Impact
Creation Limited from July 2004 to January 2006 as an Assistant Merchandiser.

Mr. Kong obtained a degree of Associate of Arts in General Studies and a degree
of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Business Management from
the City University of Hong Kong in November 2003 and November 2005,
respectively.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENEREER

Ms. Tang Wai Chun Annie (Z5{E¥), aged 50, is the Personnel Officer of
TREE Limited. She is responsible for the administration and human resources
affairs of TREE Limited.

Ms. Tang has over 13 years of experience in administration, human resources
and personnel management. Before joining our Group in March 2009, she worked
at a number of companies, including (i) Café O Limited from April 2008 to March
2009 as a human resources Assistant, primarily responsible for human resources
matters; (ii) Stanley’s Restaurants for at least 6 years ending December 1996 as
a Personnel and Administration Officer and a Personal Assistant to the Chief
Executive and Directors, primarily responsible for updating and improving the
personnel policies of the company, and dealing with all day-to-day personnel
administration; and (iii) the Repulse Bay Restaurants from May 1989 to April
1990 as an Administration Coordinator, primarily responsible for all of the
administration and personnel affairs of over 100 employees.

Ms. Tang obtained a Diploma in Hotel Management from Swiss Hotel & Catering
Colleges in Switzerland in April 1988.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lam Yiu Cho ( #K#48 ), aged 36, is our Company Secretary. He joined our
Group in March 2016.

Mr. Lam has more than 11 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
industry. Since March 2016, Mr. Lam has been working for AE Majoris Advisory
Company Limited. From August 2008 to February 2016, Mr. Lam worked at First
Pacific Company Limited with his last position being Corporate Development
Manager in the corporate development department, responsible for overseeing
mergers and acquisitions projects of the company. From January 2006 to August
2008, Mr. Lam worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu with his last position being
Senior in the Audit Department. From September 2004 to January 2006, Mr. Lam
worked at Ernst & Young as Staff Accountant in the assurance and advisory
business services department.

Mr. Lam graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting in
November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in February 2008 and January 2018, respectively.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak is our Compliance Officer. Details of the qualification and
experience of Mr. Tsui have been disclose in the paragraph headed “Executive
Directors” of this section.

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak and Mr. Lam Yiu Cho are the authorised representatives of
our Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERBE

INTRODUCTION

We are committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate
governance, as our Board believes that good and effective corporate governance
practices are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the Shareholders of
the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for encouraging
accountability and transparency so as to sustain the success of the Group and to
create long-term value for the Shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to the Shareholders
and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate
governance. Our Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to achieve effective
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Report”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. In the opinion of
the Board, the Company has complied with the CG Code from the Listing Date up
to 31 March 2018.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of the code of conduct for
dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors as set out in Rules 5.46 to
5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all
Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
adopted by the Company, and there was no event of non-compliance from the
Listing Date up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should include a balanced
composition of Executive and Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs) so that
there is an independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgment, and that Non-Executive Directors should be of sufficient
caliber and number for their views to carry weight.

The composition of the Board from the Listing Date up to the date of this annual
report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman)
Ms. Nicole Lucy Haslock

Independent Non-Executive Directors (the “INED")
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

Responsibilities and Functions of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the Group.
The Board sets the Group's mission and standards and ensures that the requisite
financial and human resources support are in place for the Group to achieve its
objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference which are published on the respective websites of the GEM and the
Company. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions to senior
management of the Group if and when considered appropriate. The management
of day-to-day operation of the Group's businesses and implementation of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board has been delegated
to the senior management of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERBE

The functions performed by the Board include but are not limited to the following
matters:

° formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring the
implementation thereof;

° deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

° approving of the Group’s financial statements, published reports, price
sensitive announcement and other disclosure required under the GEM
Listing Rules;

° developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

° Board appointment and other major appointments or removal; and
° monitoring the performance of the management.

The Directors have full and timely access to information and accounts of the
Group and are entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three INEDs representing more than one-third of the
Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation of his
independence, and the Company considers such directors to be independent in
accordance with each and the various guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’
liability has been arranged by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified
professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board. All board members have received directors’
training hosted by a law firm which was about, inter alias, the GEM Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance and Securities and Futures Ordinance.

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Pursuant to the code provision A.6.5 of the Code, during the year ended 31 March

2018, all Directors had participated in continuous professional development in
the following manner:

Name of Directors

TEERHRE

ESRIIRERRE

ROBHEEHBERREE  ARFEZREFLRE
MREEFTR S - DG AR MR BE A SR MU R ©
EENT2EAERERALERNINETTE
EREERBRAD - ILENB KRR A
WHF > REFEEFLAER 2REZENER
—fEREMEE AR E R (Eh 84E)GEM LR
A~ RBNED R B 5 M B RPI EE )

EREFNHAOFEEXERTOER - W
S GEFI - AIEE AN S BB A FOR R
FNF o

B SFRIASFBIESCEABLS - B = 20184F 3 A 31
BLEFE 2BESRATHRAEFETES
E:

Training on Director’s responsibilities provided by
the Company'’s legal consultant prior to the Listing

FAATREEBBR L HAT

EEHE REFHEESHEEINEI
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Attended
Mary Kathleen Babington 22+ B
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak Attended
RAAELE B
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph Attended
BB BEHE
Ms. Nicole Lucy Haslock Attended
Nicole Lucy Haslock 22+ EHE
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles Attended
B AE BHE
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin Attended
BEELE BEHE
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth Attended
B B

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED & X2 i 5 PR A & Annual Report 4F % 2018



34

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERBE

MEETINGS OF BOARD AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board will schedule to meet four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days in advance. The
Directors are allowed to include any other matters in the agenda that is required
for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be
properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers together with all
appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters of the meetings
are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of each
regular Board Meeting and three days or such other period as agreed before each
other Board meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors for
comments and record within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final
version is open for the Directors” inspection. According to the GEM Listing Rules,
any Directors and their associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) with a
material interest in the transactions to be discussed at the Board meetings will
abstain from voting on resolutions approving such transactions and are not
counted in the quorum of the meetings.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, two Board meetings were held on 5
January 2018 (before the Listing Date) and 9 February 2018, respectively. The
individual attendance record of the Board meetings is set out as follows:

ESSERRESHELR

EEgRRE—FRTINREE NEBFHT—
R LRAZEDVUARNESHE LB EFEE
RAEMEMARKE Lawm B AN EEMAR
B REEFERERREFE TR LIBELNS
HBREHABRE  ZREREMESSXHER
ARG EEFREENEERERER  BRE
EHEFeeRNRERMEFRL =ZARLE
HthEFS SR ETE Bt = BATPTinER
Hip Rz eRES -

REAMEARERGFAEEESSHLE - §AC
BERNERBREAGZENGERERAR
EEEHANEEERERALREE  ERAIHES
EH - RECGMEMRA - EANEFEER
BFIRORFITEEEARGNE S R
ZATCEERRGEM LR AN AR ERRX
SHPRBRBERR - BTFHAGTENEEA
A e

HE2018F3ANBILEFE - AR A2 HI7R2018
F1ASA( LM HEARA) 201852 A9H £ 1T/
REECEE ETLLTBNSESLRILER
P NNE

Number of Board Meetings
attended/eligible to attend

BEHE GEBEE
Name of Directors EEHE EEEERLHE
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington 22 1= 2/2
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak RAEESE 2/2
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EESLE 2/2
Ms. Nicole Lucy Haslock Nicole Lucy Haslock 22 = 2/2
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles B REE 2/2
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin FELA 2/2
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth [ 2/2

As our Company was first listed on GEM on 25 January 2018, for the year ended
31 March 2018, the Company has not held any general meeting.
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company on 25 January 2018 and we signed letters of appointment with each of
our Independent Non-Executive Directors on the same day. The service contracts
with our Executive Directors are for an initial term of three years commencing
from the date on which the shares of the Company are listed on the GEM (i.e. 25
January 2018) and can be terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ notice in writing. The letter of appointment with each of our Independent
Non-Executive Directors are for an initial term until 24 January 2021 commencing
from 25 January 2018 and can be terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ notice in writing.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts can be renewed in
accordance with our articles of association (the “Articles”) and the applicable
GEM Listing Rules.

According to our articles of association, one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting of the
Company, provided that every Director shall retire from office by rotation and are
subject to re-election at annual general meeting (the “AGM") at least once every
three years. Directors who are appointed to fill casual vacancies shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting after their appointment, and are
subject to re-election by Shareholders of the Company.

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liahilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also enhance the quality of performance of the
Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy. All Board appointments will continue to be
made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals. Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, being our Non-Executive Director, is the
Chairman of the Company and is responsible for the leadership of the Board
while Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, being our Executive Director, is the Chief
Executive Officer and is responsible for managing the Group’s business and
overall operations.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of our Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors
has entered into a letter of appointment with our Company for a term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date, which may terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. Each of the
INEDs is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at AGM in accordance
with the Articles.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee to oversee
particular aspects of the Company's affairs. The Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The written terms of reference for Board Committees are posted on the
respective websites of the GEM and the Company.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out
in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the
code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this report.
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Audit Committee

We established our Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C3.3 of the
CG Code Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed on 5 January
2018. The primary duties of our Audit Committee are, among other things, to
make recommendations to our Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of external auditors, review the financial statements and provide advice
in respect of financial reporting, oversee our financial reporting process, internal
control, risk management systems and audit process, and perform other duties
and responsibilities assigned by our Board.

At present, our Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr.
Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, all being Independent Non-
Executive Directors. Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles is the Chairman of our Audit
Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Audit Committee held 1 meeting, at
which the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company's
unaudited consolidated financial results for the nine months ended 31 December
2017, including the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group, the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control and risk management systems and the Group's internal audit
function and recommended to the Board for consideration the same and the re-
appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the
Company's external independent auditors at the forthcoming AGM.

The attendance of each member at the Audit Committee Meeting during the
Relevant Period is as follows:
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Number of attendance/

Name of Directors number of meetings
EEnE SRLEREBITRE
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (Chairman) BXBEE(FE) ”n
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin EELA /1
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth EBELE 1
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Remuneration Committee

We established our Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B1.2 of the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors
passed on 5 January 2018. The primary duties of our Remuneration Committee
are to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals, make
recommendations to our Board on the remuneration package of our Directors and
senior management and ensure none of our Directors determines his/her own
remuneration.

At present, our Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, being
our Executive Director, and two of our Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr.
Yeung Man Chung Charles and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth. Mr. Sit Hoi Wah
Kenneth is the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

The members of the Remuneration Committee should meet at least once a year.
Since the Company was listed on 25 January 2018, no Remuneration Committee
meeting was held during the year ended 31 March 2018.

Nomination Committee

We established our Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with paragraph A5.2 of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed on 5 January 2018. The primary
duties of our Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of our Board, and select or make recommendations on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships.

At present, our Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, being
our Chairman and Non-Executive Director, Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, being
our executive Director, and our three Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr.
Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth and Mr. Tsang Wai Yin.
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph is the Chairman of our Nomination Committee.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on 25 January 2018, no

Remuneration Committee meeting has been held during the year ended 31 March
2018.
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2018, Grant Thornton was engaged as the Group's
independent auditors. Apart from the provision of annual audit services, Grant
Thornton also provided the non-audit services in relation to the Listing of the
Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the remuneration paid or payable to Grant
Thornton in respect of audit and non-audit services provided is set out below:

TEERHRE

BT <
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HE08FIANBIUEFE  BBEMEHRZE
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2018

2018 F

Category of services HK$' 000
AR 35 %8 Bl TR
Audit services EZRT 410
Non-audit services EEZ RS 1,944

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is committed to provide a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects in annual,
interim and quarterly reports, and other financial disclosures required by the
GEM Listing Rules. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group's results
and cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2018 and are properly prepared on a
going concern basis in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements
and accounting standards.

The management will provide the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced
and understandable assessment of the Group's performance, position and
prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties under Rule 5.01 and Chapter 17 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

In addition, Grant Thornton has stated in the independent auditor's report its
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2018.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of the
Group's system of internal controls and risk assessment. A review of internal
controls systems of different operations was conducted by an independent
external risk advisory firm to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy internal
controls system.

The Board considered the internal controls system of the Group to be adequate
and effective for the year ended 31 March 2018. The Board also conducted a
review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programs
and budget which are considered to be adequate for the year ended 31 March
2018.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the GEM Listing Rules and
the overriding principle that inside information should be announced immediately
when it is the subject of a decision.

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company has
adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other
employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group has strictly
prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or insider information or any use of
such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any inside information
and any information which may potentially constitute inside information is
promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board to
decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information which
is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be announced
on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due course.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yiu Cho (#k#248 ) (“Mr. Lam”), aged 36, is our Company Secretary.
He joined our Group in March 2016. The biographical details of Mr. Lam are set
out under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”.

The primary duties of the Company Secretary include, but are not limited to, the
following: (i) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and that the activities
of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively; (i) to assist the Chairman
to prepare agendas and Board papers for meetings and disseminate such
documents to the Directors and Board committees in a timely manner; (iii) to
timely disseminate announcements and information relating to the Group; and (iv)
to maintain formal minutes of the Board meetings and other Board committee
meetings.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company Secretary of the Company
had confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training the accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication
between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual general meeting of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined by
the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM").

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Article 64 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the Shareholder(s) concerned, his/
her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene the EGM and
the proposed agenda.
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Procedures for Shareholders to send enquires to the
Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that the Company maintains
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, use annual general
meetings or other meeting to communicate with Shareholders and encourage
their participation.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders through convening the annual general meeting or general meeting,
publication of annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements,
circulars as well as all the disclosures submitted to the respective websites of
GEM and the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

From the Listing Date to 31 March 2018, there had been no significant change in
the Company'’s constitutional documents.
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SCOPE AND PERIOD OF REPORTING

The very core of our business is built around giving back to the environment and
the communities in which the Group does business. The Group cares deeply
about its corporate social responsibility and has always operated with a ‘profits
with principles’ approach.

This report covers the reporting period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018, and
is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules. The content contained
herein summarises the Group's ESG performance during the financial year, and
covers our management policies, mechanisms and measures in place with
respect to the environmental protection, emission reduction, safe workplace,
personnel training and drills, supply chain management and community
investment and engagement.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
POLICIES

The Group's environment, social and governance policies are based on the
principles set out below:

1. To achieve environmental sustainability in any way that we can
2. To respect human rights and social culture

3. To engage with stakeholders

4. To support our employees

5. To sustain local communities in any way that we can

A. Environmental
Protecting the environment is of fundamental importance to the business
values of our Group. We are pleased that our efforts were proven
effective as there was no material issue of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations related to the environment during the reporting
period.

A1 Emissions
Our business is closely related to the environment. Environmental
protection and emissions reduction are a priority for our Group.
The emissions data, which includes both the air emissions and
greenhouse gas emissions, has been measured for a better
understanding of our environmental impact and for taking
meaningful decisions in the future.
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Air Emissions

The Group's emissions of air pollutants, which include nitrogen
oxides (“NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx") and respiratory suspended
particles (“RSP”), are mainly generated by usage of vehicles for
delivery. The Group produced approximately 209 kg of air
emissions for FY2018, an increase by approximately 16.4%, as
compared to approximately 179 kg of air emissions for FY2017.
The increase in air emissions was mainly due to the increase in
sales during the year, and hence more shipping and delivery
services were incurred. The Group strives to deliver its products in
bulk and fully utilise the capacity of vehicles in order to reduce
any unnecessary air emissions.

Greenhouse Gas ("GHG ") Emissions

The consumption of electricity at the offices and petrol are the
largest sources of GHG emissions of the Group. During FY2018,
the Group's total GHG emissions amounted to approximately 341
tonnes and the total GHG emission per employee was
approximately 5 tonnes/employee. The Group has successfully
reduced both the total GHG emissions and GHG emission per
employee, by approximately 9.4% and 0.7% respectively. The
detail summary of the GHG emission by scope for FY2018 and
FY2017 is shown as below:

STREER BB
AEBHRHERSEMBERENL
1 (INOx]) ~ T & b4 ([SOx]) K AT ik
ABOZRF([RSP)) - EZAEH A
BERNEYMES - 20185 KFE -
ANEBEEH209A 53R %E R
WY B2017 8 BEEL1T9R TS
o2 TEBER YD IE N4 16.4% o 54 2e
FEOPERYE NN EZRALSFANE
SR AMELAEZEGH R
RS - REBBAMEINER - 7
DRBREEH R - OB T HBERS
Rz THEMYD -

JBERTEE([GHG)) BEILY)

WAERERAERRERARERER
GHG HE B ) & K 2K R © 2018 87 B 47
B AEBGHGHF MR ELE3M R
W SREECHCHE N HBEDH AS
AW BE - REBEE S RIRIE D
GHGHEM W 42 2 K T 4% & B GHG B i
Y #499.4% [207% ° BL2018 A B FF [ %
NWIFBFEMS  HBEES DM
GHG Mt 2 RFalian T -

GHG Scope Unit FY2018 FY2017

GHG &5 & By 208 HEFE 2011 RFE

Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) — BEEGHGHEY Tonnes AR 4 35
petrol consumption (#E1) —E/HH

Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) — a2 GHG HE Tonnes A8 292 330

electricity consumption (8E?2) —HE

Other indirect GHG emission (Scope 3) —  E. b [## GHG HEE 4 Tonnes A A 8 11
paper and water consumption, (E8[E3) — B -
business travel KR ZE R

GHGHE IR &

Total GHG emission Tonnes A Wi 3 376

The Group recorded an increase for GHG emission for Scope 1 for
FY2018 as compared to FY2017. The increase in GHG emission for
Scope 1 is mainly due to the increase in sales and resulting
deliveries and an additional new vehicle (truck) purchased during
FY2018.
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Indirect GHG emission contributes the largest to our total GHG
emissions. The Group will continue to promote electricity saving in
our office, retail stores and warehouses by introducing energy
saving options, such as compact fluorescent lamps. The Group will
also implement some measures to remind employees for energy
saving, such as reminders for switching off any idle electrical
appliances.

The Group upholds the 3Rs principles, namely reduce, reuse and
recycle and promotes the reduction of usage of paper, water
resources, electricity and stationary. The Group is actively involved
in recycling. For example, when printing is required double-sided
printing is recommended, single-side-printed paper is collected for
internal reuse, waste sorting is endorsed at the retails stores and
in the office. The Group engaged an external recycling company in
January 2018 to further reduce wastage and promote recycling.
The group is continually looking for ways to reduce paper usage in
the business.

Waste Management

The principal operating activities of the Group include the sales
and distribution of furniture and home accessories, as well as
consignment sales and distribution and licencing of the
intellectual property rights. The business operations of the Group
produce no hazardous waste, e.g. chemical wastes, clinical
wastes and hazardous chemicals.

The only measurable output of the Group’s total non-hazardous
waste for FY2018 was mainly paper waste, which amounted to
approximately 636 kg, a decrease of 13.6% as compared to
FY2017. The paper waste produced per employee was
approximately 10 kg for FY2018, a decrease of 5.4% as compared
to FY2017. The Group will keep on encouraging the employees to
become paperless but where printing is necessary to use double-
side printing and to re-use single-side-printed paper, in order to
reduce paper usage.
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7B 55

A2

- HEREREE

Use of Resources

Energy Consumption

The Group's total energy consumption for FY2018 was
approximately 375,079 kWh, decreased by approximately 11.5%
as compared to FY2017. The electricity consumption per employee
was 5,954 kWh for FY2018, a decrease of 3.1% as compared to
FY2017. The reduction in electricity usage was mainly attributable
to the replacement of traditional light bulbs by compact
fluorescent lamps.

Water Consumption

The Group operates TREE Café at our Flagship Store which offers
a range of beverage and light refreshments. For FY2018, the
Group's total water consumption was approximately 306 cubic
meters, a decrease of 33.6% as compared to FY2017. The
reduction of water consumption was mainly due to the decrease
in food and beverage income during FY2018 as all the food and
beverages sold were only for takeaway which affected the overall
business. The café are reminded not to leave taps running and to
be conscious of not wasting water.

Paper Usage

The use of paper was mainly for office/administrative purposes.
The Group's total paper usage for FY2018 was approximately 636
kg, a decrease of 13.6% as compared to FY2017. The paper usage
per employee was approximately 10 kg for FY2018, a decrease of
approximately 5.4% as compared to FY2017. The Group sourced
all its paper-related products, including office paper, product tags
and product catalogues, from suppliers who can use recycled and/
or stock that has Forest Stewardship Council (“FSC") certification.
FSC is an organisation which aims to promote environmentally
appropriate, socially beneficial, and economically viable
management of the world's forests. The Group will continue on to
encourage employees to use double-side printing and to re-use
single-side-printed paper, in order to reduce paper usage.
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Packaging Materials
Packing materials are kept to a minimum within the business but
some plastic film is used during delivery due to the necessity of
protecting products on delivery. As the usage is considered
immaterial, no disclosure has been made regarding the use of
packaging materials.

Shopping Bag
Should customers not have their own bags the Company offers
reusable branded 100% cotton bags to customers.

Environmental and Natural Resources

Part of the branding of the Group is to show the ethos of
conducting the business “from the heart”, “reclaimed, recycled,
reloved” and “giving back”. The Group have participated in the
Trees4Trees initiative where the Group have made donations for
the planting of proximately 7,262 trees during the FY2018. Now
making a total of 77,800 to date. In addition, the Group offers
products with FSC 100% or FSC Recycled certification. The Group
is committed to continuing to position the brand as a retailer of
sustainably stylish furniture and naturally beautiful home
accessories who gives back to the environment in any way we can
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The Group’s contribution to various aspects of the environment is

shown as below:

Aspects
I E

T

Contribution

=1

GHG emissions

GHG HER

Paper waste

BEAR

Energy consumption

BETRHAE

Water consumption

FEIK

° Reduced GHG emission by 9.4%

° Reduced GHG emission per employee by 0.7%
e GHGHERMIRM A3 9.4%

. GHG HE IR G E B 5t ER A E0T%

° Reduced paper waste by 13.6%

. Reduced paper waste per employee by 5.4%
o FEEHUMAIE136%

. FER IR B E B B E DA%

° Reduced energy consumption by 11.5%

o Reduced energy consumption per employee by 3.1%

J BETRHRER A IE115%
. R EREIR B EETERAESI%

o Reduced water consumption by 33.6%

° Reduced water consumption per employee by 27.2%

o FEKIEAE3L6%

AEBEHRRETEELORERN

o FKRE(REFERE2.2%

For FY2018, the Group has not found any material non-compliance
with laws and regulations in respect of the environment and
natural resources.

B. Society
B.1  Employment
Employee Benefits
Employees are regarded as the most valuable assets to the Group.
They provide a driving force for continuous development and
innovation to the Group.
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As at 31 March 2018, the Group has 63 employees, and the details
composition is shown as below:

By Type of Employment
REERAELES
5% 1%

[0 Full Time M@ Part Time M Temporary

- FeH S
By Age Group
RFRERE D

8%
8%

18-25%% | 26-35%% [36-45%% [1146-55%% [ 56-655%

For FY2018, the Group has fully complied with the statutory
requirements in Hong Kong, including the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Minimum Wages Ordinance, the Personal Data Privacy
Ordinance and other relevant rules and regulations.
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The management regularly reviews the Group’s remuneration and
benefits policies in reference to the market standards and is
committed to safeguarding the rights and interests of the
employees. Remuneration and benefits have been adjusted on an
annual basis in accordance with the employees’ individual
performance, contribution and market conditions.

Promotion decisions are made based on careful consideration of
job responsibilities together with each individual’s qualifications,
relevant experience and performance, conduct and potential with
the Group. Promotion and salary increment are rewarded to all
contributing staff. All employees enjoy the statutory holiday and
annual leave, with 5 to 6 days’ work per week with 8 working
hours per day.

The Group strives to build a harmonious and inclusive working
environment, free from any harassment and discrimination. The
Group promotes understanding and awareness of Non-
Discrimination, Anti-Harassment and Non-Bully Policies by
communicating these in the team meetings and in the employment
handbook. The Group strives to ensure equal employment
opportunity for all employees, regardless of their race, colour,
religion, age, gender, sexual orientation, national origin,
citizenship, disability, marital status or any other characteristics
protected by law. The Group's equal employment opportunity
policy is applicable towards recruitment, training and
development, recognition and reward, and termination and
dismissal.

For FY2018, the Group has not found any material non-compliance
with laws and regulations in respect of the labour standards.
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Health and Safety

Health and safety are key concerns to the Group. The Group is
committed to providing a safe working environment to all the
employees.

The Group has performed following measures/items to protect the
employees:

° Distribution of instruction manuals regarding the
procedures on handling or lifting heavy objects

° Provision of seminar conducted by Occupational Safety and
Health Council ("OSHC")

For FY2018, there were four employees involved in work related
injuries, and a total of 976 hours of lost working hours were
recorded.

Development and Training

The Group aims to recruit the best talent who fits our business
model and strategy. To ensure the quality of services, the Group
provides regular internal training to its staff. The purpose of the
training is to provide up-to-date knowledge on the products, and
to develop the employees’ selling techniques and skills.

Labour Standard

The Group has established standards on recruitment and dismissal
in line with the Hong Kong employment laws and regulations. The
Group does not employ any person below the age of eighteen at
its workplace.

For FY2018, the Group complied with all the laws and regulations
relating to the prevention of child labour or forced labour. The
Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws
and regulations relating to employment and labour practices.
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B.5

B.6

CHERER

HE

Supply Chain Management
The Group is committed to:

° Supporting the interests of our customers by focusing on
product and services quality, value and safety

° Providing products and services that comply with all
applicable legislations in their distribution markets

° Maintaining clear and constant customer communications
channels, listening actively to feedback and responding
swiftly to complaint

° Safeguarding our operations against unfair business
practices

° Communicating to our suppliers the importance of
responsible sourcing and social compliance in the areas of
health, safety and worker welfare

The Group maintains close communication with its suppliers to
monitor its performance to ensure that it is consistent with its
service commitment.

Product Responsibility

Safeguarding Customers’ Interest

The Group is committed to providing products and services with
high standards of quality and reliability. The Group strictly adheres
to the applicable laws and regulations relating to product/services
responsibility in Hong Kong such as Sale of Good Ordinance
(Chapter 26 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Consumer Goods
Safety Ordinance (Chapter 456 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

For FY2018, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations related to product
responsibility.
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Personal Data and Customer Confidentiality

For the customer privacy protection, the Group takes all
practicable steps and measures to ensure that personal data
collected from the customers are well protected and at all times
complies with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Chapter 486
of the Laws of Hong Kong, in the collection, use, holding and
processing of such information or personal data.

For FY2018, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations related to product
responsibility.

Anti-corruption

The Group has adopted a set of anti-corruption policy to ensure
compliance by all employees, officers and directors of the Group.
Employees should not solicit or accept any advantage for
themselves. Directors and staff should avoid any conflicts of
interest situation, at which their private interest conflicts with the
Group’s interest.

Whistle blowing

A whistle blowing policy is applicable to all employees of the
Group. The purpose of formulating the whistle blowing policy is to
increase the awareness of maintaining internal corporate justice.
It provides all the employees of the Group with reporting channels
and guidance on whistle blowing. Qur management will review
and take follow-up actions to investigate every suspected
misconduct case raised by the whistle blowing mechanism.

For FY2018, the Group there was not aware of any misconduct and
any material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
related to anti-corruption.
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B.8 Community
It is the Group's nature to serve the community and help people in
any way we can, whenever we can. The Group has always
encouraged our staff to participate in voluntary and charitable
events to serve the community and society. During FY2018, the
Group participated in the following activities to contribute to the
community.

. Trees4trees, supporting reforestation and improving lives
of local families

° Supporting the hristina Noble Children Foundation,
supporting children in Vietnam and Mongolia

o Earth Hour, supporting the environment by reducing GHG
emissions

° Supporting Angels for Orphans through collecting,
wrapping and the distributing of Christmas gifts to Po
Leung Kok.

OUTLOOK

The Group is actively seeking for an opportunity to implement more
environmental, social and governance measures in its operation to reflect its
social corporate responsibility to the environment and community.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018.

REORGANISATION AND LISTING

The companies comprising the Group underwent the Reorganisation to
rationalise the Group's structure in preparation for the Listing. Details of the
Reorganisation were set out in the section headed “History, Development and
Reorganisation” of the Prospectus dated 12 January 2018. Following the Share
Offer of 396,000,000 shares of the Company, the Company was listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange on 25 January 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Headquartered in Hong Kong and operating under the brand name “TREE", we
engage in (i) the sale and distribution of furniture and home accessories; (ii)
consignment sales; (iii) the distribution and licencing of our intellectual property
rights; (iv) the provision of styling and consulting services; and (v) the operation
of TREE café in our Flagship Store. We offer a variety of (i) furniture including
tables, chairs, storage solutions, sofas and beds; and (ii) home accessories
including kitchenware, bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions,
mattresses, utensils and baskets.

At date of this annual report, we operated three “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store, our Sha Tin store which we opened in October
2016, and our Yuen Long Store which opened in May 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 is set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 and the financial
position of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2018 are set forth in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 147 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2018, the Company's issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

Details of the Company's share capital are set out in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the distributable reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity, respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2018 amounted to approximately HK$0.1 million (2017: approximately
HK$0.1 million).

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S SHARE
OFFERING
The net proceeds from the Listing in January 2018, after deducting the
underwriting fees, the Stock Exchange trading fee and SFC transaction levy and
other listing expenses in connection with the Share Offer, were approximately
HK$20.3 million.

During the period from the listing date on 25 January 2018 to 31 March 2018, the

Group has utilised HK$0.8 million the proceeds from the Listing for the deposit
and rental of Yuen Long Store.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group, as

extracted from the Prospectus and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 is set out on
page 148 of the annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited

financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and set out below.

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Group to grant
options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group and/or to enable our Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to
our Group or any entity in which any member of our Group holds any
equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

Participants

Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, be entitled but shall not be bound at
any time within a period of 10 years commencing from the date of the
adoption of the Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the grant of an
option to any person belonging to the following classes:

(a)  any employee (whether full time or part time, including the
Directors (including any Non-Executive Director and Independent
Non-Executive Director)) of our Company, any of our subsidiaries
(within the meaning of Companies QOrdinance) or any Invested
Entity (an “Eligible Employee”);

(b)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group or
any Invested Entity;

(c) any customer of any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to any member of our Group or any Invested
Entity;

(e)  any Shareholder of any member of our Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;
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(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant, individual or
equity who in the opinion of our Directors has contributed or will

contribute to the growth and development of our Group; and

(9) any other groups or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of our

Group,

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for the grant
of an option may be made to any company wholly-owned by one or more

eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by our Company for
the subscription of shares or other securities of our Group to any person
who falls within any of the above classes of eligible participants shall
not, by itself, unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as a

grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer under the
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our Directors from time to
time on the basis of our Directors’ opinion as to such eligible participant’s

contribution to the development and growth of our Group.

(c) Maximum number of shares

(a)  The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes adopted by our Group shall not exceed 30% of our share
capital in issue from time to time. No options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes
adopted by our Group if the grant of such options will result in the

limit referred herein being exceeded.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 SR1Z R PR X & Annual Report 4 %% 2018

(c)

()l EERR/CHABHATENERER
BRFHEBMNOEABAA(BER
FEEZE) B EAARER: K

(o) BREHAENAAZEDRE BERBEX
Hib XL BT A AR B ER
RERFELEROTAEMER A
alll:h e i

AR LERE ST E AR —EXEEE
BER2ERELERANTAQRRRLBR
R ZL -

RRERRE  ARABABNALEERSH
EFRINERA LR EFBIRE - ARE
REBENRODIEMES - EAF T ERRE
BAREBEBIETSRLBERE EEES
TTREE S ERI

REBBERETE FAEER2EEETA
BESENNER  ARESTRIZEHZ
RERSEENAEERRMERMENT
ARV E R IMRTE °

REBEE LR

() EREERESERAEBRENOE
AEMERETZ RS MEFTE
K2 EB i AR T{F B AR A I T TR T A B
BITHEaROEE - TEBARM
T E BT A RI30% © Wi H % i
REHEAS B BB PTall fREE - BT S
IRAR B AR AT Bl ok A SR B IR 2 1111
H A BERR A AT BT AT (T R AR o



(b)

(c)

(d)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Group) to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of our share capital in
issue as at the date on which dealings in our shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 158,400,000 Shares (the
“General Scheme Limit").

Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (d) below, our
Company may seek approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that the
total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Group shall not exceed 10% of
our share capital in issue as at the date of approval of the limit
and for the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of our Group) previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group will not
be counted.

Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above, our
Company may seek separate Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting to grant options under the Share Option Scheme beyond
the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended limit
referred to in (c) above to eligible participants specifically
identified by our Company before such approval is sought.
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(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant
Subject to (v) below, the total number of shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible
participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option under the
Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of our issued share capital for the time being. Where any
further grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a grantee
would result in our shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of our share capital in issue, such further grant shall
be separately approved by our Shareholders in general meeting with such
grantee and his close associates (or his associates if the grantee is a

connected person) abstaining from voting.

(e) Grant of options to core connected persons

(a) Without prejudice to (b) below, the making of an offer under the
Share Option Scheme to any of our Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates shall
be approved by our Independent Non-Executive Directors
(excluding any Independent Non-Executive Director who or whose
close associate is the proposed grantee of an option under the

Share Option Scheme).
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(b)

Without prejudice to (a) above, where any grant of options under
the Share Option Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or our
Independent Non-Executive Director or any of their respective
associates, would result in our Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option Scheme
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of our share capital in
issue; and

(2)  having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
our shares at the offer date of each offer, in excess of
HK$5 million;

such further grant of options shall be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee, his
associates and all our core connected persons shall abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our Shareholders under
paragraphs (iii), (iv) and (v) above, our Company shall send a circular to

our Shareholders containing the information required under the GEM

Listing Rules and where the GEM Listing Rules shall so require, the vote

at the Shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval
shall be taken on a poll with those persons required under the GEM
Listing Rules abstaining from voting.
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(f)

Time of acceptance and exercise of an option

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and by no other person)
for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which shall be a business day,
on which the offer is made to the eligible participant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant in respect of
all Shares which are offered to such eligible participant when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
eligible participant together with a remittance in favour of our Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
our Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall
in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant in respect of less
than the number of Shares which are offered provided that it is accepted
in respect of a board lot for dealings in our shares on GEM or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate letter
comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by such eligible participant
and received by our Company together with a remittance in favour of our
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof within
such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than
21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall in no circumstances
be refundable.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by our Directors to the grantee thereof (provided always that such period
shall not be more than 10 years from the offer date of that option), and in
the absence of such determination, from the date of the grant of such
option to the earlier of (aa) the date on which such option lapses under
the relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (bb) the date
falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31 March 2018.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above, there is
no equity-linked agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2018 or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's shares were successfully listed on GEM on 25 January 2018.
Save as the Listing, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2018.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for about 68.9% of the Group’s cost of materials and the largest
supplier accounted for about 24.1% of the cost of materials.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 8.9% of the Group’s total revenue and the largest customer
accounted for about 6.7% of the total revenue.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the shares) had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers
referred to above.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles provides that the Directors, Secretary and other officers and every
auditor for the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in
or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all
reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during the Year.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington
(Chief executive officer)

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tong Tang (Chairman)
Ms. Nicole Lucy Haslock

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (appointed on 25 January 2018)
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin (appointed on 25 January 2018)

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah (appointed on 25 January 2018)

Brief biographical details of Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management”.
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Article 112 of the Articles provides that any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Article 108(a) to 108(c) of the Articles provides that (1) one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is a not multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each
AGM, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years; (2) A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which
he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to
ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes
to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.

Each of Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, Mr. Tong Tang
Joseph, Ms. Nicole Lucy Haslock, Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai
Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth will retire at the AGM and all of them, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received written confirmations of independence from each of
the INEDs, namely Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr.
Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As at the
date of this annual report, the Company still considers the INEDs to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which any of the
Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his or her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year ended 31 March 2018 or at any time during the year ended 31 March
2018.
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COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE NON-
COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (“Mr. Tong") and
Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”) (the "Controlling Shareholders”) have
entered into the deed of non-competition undertakings (the “Deed of Non-
Competition Undertakings”) in favour of the Company (for its own and on
behalf of all members of the Group) on 5 January 2018, pursuant to which each
of the Controlling Shareholders, irrevocably and unconditionally, undertakes and
covenants with the Company that during the period that the Deed of Non-
Competition Undertakings remains effective, each of the Controlling
Shareholders shall not, and shall procure that none of his/her/its associates
(except any member of the Group), directly or indirectly (other than through the
Group) carry on, participate, hold, engage, being interested in, acquire or operate,
directly or indirectly, or provide any form of assistance to any person, firm or
company to conduct any business in competition with or likely to be in
competition with the Group’s existing business activity and any business
activities which may be undertaken by the Group from time to time. Details of
the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings have been set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition
Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual declaration from each of the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance with the terms of the
Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during the year ended 31 March 2018.
The independent non-executive Directors, having reviewed the annual
declarations and made reasonable enquiry, were satisfied that the Controlling
Shareholders have complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition
Undertakings during the year ended 31 March 2018.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with our Company for a term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of our Independent Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing and determining the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior
management with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Interests and short positions of the Company’s Directors
and chief executives in the Company’s shares,
underlying shares and debentures and the Company’s
associated corporations

As at 31 March 2018, the interests or short positions of the Company's Directors
in the Company’s shares, underlying shares or debentures which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFOQ") (including
interests and short positions in which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register as referred to therein, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
“required standard of dealings” as contained in Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing
Rules, were as follows:

(i)  Long position in the Company’s shares
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Name of Director Nature of interest Number of Percentage of
Shares held™ shareholding
EERE ERME FREROEEY RET DL
Mr. Tong Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,104,840,000 (L) 69.8%
B REEEE R (T 2)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Interest in a controlled corporation 59,400,000 (L) 3.7%
(“Ms. Babington”) (Note 3)
Mary Kathleen Babington 22 4= REEEE MR (HFE3)
([Babington 2+ 1)
Ms. Nicole Lucy Haslock Interest in a controlled corporation 23,760,000 (L) 1.5%

(the “Ms. Haslock”) (Note 4)

Nicole Lucy Haslock Z 4 REEEE R (HE4)
([Haslock Zz £ ])
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Notes:

1. The letter “L" denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part XV
of the SFO) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 69.8% by Tiptop. Tiptop is wholly-owned by
Mr. Tong. Under the SFO, Mr. Tong is deemed to be interested in the same
number of shares held by Tiptop.

3. The Company is owned as to 3.7% by Rothley Investment Limited
(“Rothley”). Rothley is wholly-owned by Ms. Babington. Under the SFO,
Ms. Babington is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Rothley.

4 The Company is owned as to 1.5% by Savvy Consulting Limited (“Savvy”).
Savvy is wholly-owned by Ms. Haslock. Under the SFO, Ms. Haslock is
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Savvy.

Saved as disclosed above, as of 31 March 2018, none of the Company's Directors
and chief executives and their respective associates had or is deemed to have
any interest or short positions in the Company’s shares, underlying shares or
debentures or the Company's associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFQ), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register as referred to herein, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
“required standard of dealing” as contained in Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Interests and short positions of substantial
Shareholders in the Company’s shares, underlying
shares and debentures and the Company's associated
corporations

As at 31 March 2018, so far as the Company’s Directors are aware, the following
persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had, or
were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Company's shares or
underlying shares which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who,
directly or indirectly, were interested in 10% or more of the issued voting shares
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any member of the Company:

(i)  Long position in the Company's shares
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Interests in Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest shares™ shareholding

REHE EB Mg RGERE BRESL

Tiptop Beneficial owner (Note 2) 1,104,840,000 (L) 69.8%

218 BB A (HE2)

Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna Interest of spouse (Note 3) 1,104,840,000 (L) 69.8%

ST+ BB & (5T 3)

Notes: P E

1. The letter “L" denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part XV of the 1. FR L EZATRZERNDTH (78 J(WEH
SFO) in such Shares. LEAEIEHIEXVERFIESE) ©

2. The Company is owned as to 69.8% by Tiptop. 2. EIEHEH A2 7 69.8% HIALHE o

3. Tiptop is wholly-owned by Mr. Tong, the Company’s Chairman, one of the 3. EBIERELAS (ARFEE B —ZIEHITES

Company’s Non-Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders. Under the SFO,
Mr. Tong is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Tiptop.
Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna is the spouse of Mr. Tong. Under the SFO, Ms. Shum
Yuet Wah Anna is deemed to be interested in all the Company’s shares in which
Mr. Tong is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, the Directors were not aware of
any other persons/entities (other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or
who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the issued voting
shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any member of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2018 was the Company or its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

COMPETING BUSINESS AND CONFLICT OF
INTEREST

As confirmed by the Directors, Controlling Shareholders and their respective
close associates do not have any interests in any business, apart from the
business operated by members of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2018.

INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at the date of this report, except for the compliance adviser agreement
entered into between the Company and Oceanwide Capital Limited (the
“Compliance Adviser”), neither the Compliance Adviser, nor any of its
directors, employees or close associates has any interests in the securities of the
Company or any other companies of the Group (including options or rights to
subscribe for such securities) pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Directors confirm
that the Company maintained the public float as required under the GEM Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SIGNIFICANT
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business in which the
Company or any its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of
the year ended 31 March 2018.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group had not entered into any
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions that are not
exempted under Rule 20.71 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions carried in the ordinary course
of business are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on pages 30 to 42 of this
report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 were
audited by Grant Thornton, the independent auditors, who shall retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will
be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Grant Thornton as auditor and
to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
TREE Holdings Limited

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman

13 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
MR TR

o Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of Tree Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tree Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to 147,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

B M %A

HREZER
AREZFREREEENEXHTEESER
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IE%E%?%%%E%%??SW%%%&%&&E ERE
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EREREH EEERNREBARERSE
Allowance of inventories

FERE

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRI BRERMEE1T

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had inventories of approximately

HK$11,375,000. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net

realisable value.

EAZO 8F3ANE EEEMTFELNA1137500F T 7
B AR A Sk A B3R S E M & P A BIRE AR o

Allowance for inventories require management to make significant
accounting estimates and judgments. These include identification of
damaged, slow moving and obsolete inventories and assessing the level
of allowance required by estimating the net realisable value of
inventories, which is the actual or estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
FEBRBEREREELERGHEE RAE - EFWEZ&
A BIEBANER  FHMREFEAL BB FEAE
WHEANBEEEBHBRESD ,\Kf’%iﬁsr%{,\/m*ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ
B EERR) AT R FT R BHE KT -

We focused on this area because of the magnitude of inventories and the
estimation of the net realisable value of inventories involved a high level
of management judgment. These estimations are also subjected to
uncertainty as a result of change of competitor actions and market
condition.
EEESNEE  RARFEERARMGAFEAZEFE
ﬁ&m&ﬁﬁ’] B E%#Ul%ﬁ ﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%é%ﬂ&
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Our audit procedures in relation to allowance of inventories included:

EENFERBNELEFERE

Assessing the reasonableness of the basis used by management
in identifying damaged, slow moving and obsolete inventories;
HEERERNER  FHEIMRETEMRANE
EHEEIE

Attending the year end inventory count to observe the physical
conditions of inventories and identify damaged or obsolete

inventories;
— Z2HEFRGERY REFTENZTHEMRRRFRE
RAMETH ;

Testing the accuracy of the inventory ageing report, on a sample
basis, by checking to the purchase source documents;
FRREBEAIRXY - AMEERARAEFTEER
e

Testing the net realisable value of inventory items, on a sample
basis, to the actual selling price subsequent to the year end; and
UHEFERARATEEERFABREREENE
AR EE: &

Evaluating the appropriateness of management's assessment on
the estimated future utilisation of inventory items without
subsequent sales with reference to their ageing and
marketability of the relevant inventory items.
2EZFMEEEANER EEN  FFEEEEH
R IEmEEEENBR T RRABAFEERE
HERH R RS T -

We consider management’s assessment of allowance for inventories to
be reasonable based on available evidence.

EERR ERBRERR BREEMIGETFEREBNE
I o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
MR TR

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2018 annual report of the Company, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

B M %A
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

13 June 2018

Lin Ching Yee Daniel
Practising Certificate No.: P02771
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 & Z 20184F3 A 31 HIEFE

2018 2017
2018 ¢ 2017 F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
Hfax FET FEIT
Revenue U =5 4 79,073 77,316
Cost of sales $HEE R A (25,515) (26,303)
Gross profit EF 53,558 51,013
Other income EUgA 5 134 286
Selling and marketing expenses HERTISHERRS (34,128) (32,806)
Administrative expenses THRAX (11,597) (12,118)
Listing-related expenses RN (15,747) (10,066)
Share-based compensation expense LARS A7 7 L7 9 37 B 5 =2 26 (656) (2,331)
Finance costs U %N 6 (316) (140)
Loss before income tax MRETBHAIER (8,752) (6,162)
Income tax expense IS EiA X (1.350) (986)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for FARDRTERETEA
the year attributable to equity EHEER2HEER
holders of the Company wEm (10,102) (7,148)
Loss per share attributable to ARATERIFEA
equity holders of the Company EEEREE
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AFRENTR)
— Basic and diluted -EARR#E 11 (0.80) (0.60)

The notes on pages 82 to 147 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

oy

N

e

82147 B EE YR F 4R A M IS R AV AR AT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 March 2018 72201843 531 H

2018 2017
2018 5 2017 48
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
Bat FET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KRR 13 3,094 3,176
Intangible assets B EE 14 329 389
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASREBBRLIREEE 16 1,689 1,609
Deferred tax assets RIS E 23 289 223
5,401 5,397
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 11,375 9,963
Trade and other receivables 5 N H fih fE U 7008 18 11,780 11,396
Tax recoverable EIAEEE - 581
Pledged bank deposits EHEBIRITIFH 19 200 -
Bank balances and cash WITHEBRNIES 19 35,960 2,499
59,315 24,439
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H fh e~ 70E 20 8,868 10,127
Deferred revenue FEIE U = 21 885 796
Income tax liabilities Frstiata 304 -
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 2 5,009 7,556
15,066 18,479
Net current assets REEE RS 44,249 5,960
Total assets less current liahilities HWEERRBERE 49,650 11,357
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 2 335 -
Net assets EEFHE 49,315 11,357
EQUITY s
Share capital k&N 24 15,840 -
Reserves & 25 33,475 11,357
Total equity R 49,315 11,357
Tong Tang Joseph &% Tsui Wing Tak #2812
Director £ Director 2%

The notes on pages 82 to 147 are an integral part of these consolidated financial FEEM] BFAEM T %S48 MR B ER
statements. Do

N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEREREEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 2 £ 20183 A31 HILFE

Accumulated
Share Share Capital profits/ Total
capital premium reserve (losses) equity
S e
& B 65 E EXfmE S (BR) b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TFET FET FET
Balance at 1 April 2016 N2016 54 A1 B 2 &8k - - 2,487 29,096 31,583
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREBEMEEEEEE
for the year - - - (7,148) (7,148)
Transactions with owners HERANR S
— Share-based compensation — DARRAD B BB B S
(Note 26(a)) (K15t 26(a) - - 2,331 - 2,331
— Dividend paid (Note 10) -BRRE (ftiE10) - - - (15,409) 15,409)
Total transactions with owners HEFANR HBE - - 2,331 (15,409) (13,078)
Balance at 31 March 2017 and R2017TF3IANER
1 April 2017 M754518 268 - - 1818 6,539 11,357
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREBEMREEEELE
for the year - - - (10,102) (10,102)
Transactions with owners HERANR S
— Issuance of shares under Share - RERMHBEERTRN
Offer (Note 24(iv)) (It % 24(iv)) 3,960 57,816 - - 61,776
— Share issuance expenses - R BITHEX
(Note 24(iv)) (Ff 72 24(iv)) - (14,372) - - (14,372)
— Capitalisation issue (Note 24(iii)) - BAMCEAT (B33 240i)) 11,880 (11,880) - - -
— Share-based compensation — LARR D BT 6 7 B
(Note 26(a)) (Bt 26(a)) - - 656 - 656
Total transactions with owners BEA NN 51858 15,840 31,564 656 - 48,060
Balance at 31 March 2018 R2018E3 A3 Azt 15,840 31,564 5474 (3,563) 49,315
The notes on pages 82 to 147 are an integral part of these consolidated financial 58 82 & 147 B P& M 5T J0s% S 4 & B FS R AV AE A 20
statements. 7 e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{Z= 2018 F3 A 31 HIEFE

2018 2017
2018 £F 2017 48
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Cash flows from operating activities RETBHAEBRERE
Loss before income tax BREF1S TR E B (8,752) (6,162)
Adjustment for: KA 1,400 1,164

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - BEMEETE

Amortisation of intangible assets E B 100 98

Interest income FLEWA () (1)

Interest expenses FBFRX 316 140

Fair value gain on cash surrender value of ASRBHELNRSEED

life insurance N EERE (80) (65)

Share-based compensation expense VARS 157 7 R B0 357 B B =2 656 2,331

Write off of inventories FE - 32
Operating loss before working capital changes LEECEIFIINLEEE (6,365) (2,463)
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories FEOEm, m (1,412) 916
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables 28 5 Kz H i J& U 3038 (1 40) i > (855) 2,281
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables B 5 REAMREN B CR L), i (1,259) 3413
Increase in deferred revenue TEIEUR ZE3E 4N 89 107
Cash (used in)/generated from operations #e s (P )/Fﬁ S A (9.802) 4,254
Income tax paid E%{Fﬁ S (531) (2,295)
Interest received BEF B 5 !
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities TR (FrH )/Fﬂ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ (10,328) 1,960
Cash flows from investing activities BREZTHFEEERE
Repayment/(Addition) in amount due from FE U BaEE N A) ,ﬂl;ifgfﬁ/(i i)

a related company an (4)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment HEWE  MENLEHE (848) (1,783)
Additions of intangible assets NEELEE (40) (5)
Net cash used in investing activities REZHFFRAEESFHE (417) (1,792)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2 A L=
EIRERER
For the year ended 31 March 2018 # = 201843 31 HIFF/E
2018 2017
2018 ¢ 2017 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Cash flows from financing activities RETBHIERERE
Increase in pledged bank deposits B FRERITFFIE N (200) -
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITIEBFBRIE 2,500 3,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BERRTEE (2,814) (1,213)
Capital element of finance lease payments MEMRENRZERT D (48) -
Interest element of finance lease payments RERENRZFEE D (14)
Interest paid BEAFE (302) (140)
Dividend paid BRI = (5,000)
Payment for deferred IPO cost BEEEE R AFREERA = (1,983)
Proceeds from issuance of shares under Share Offer 1R 1B A% 19 2% & 217 i (9 BT 15 708 61,776 -
Payment of share issuance expenses SR EITRAX (14,372) -
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities BETEHRE (iR RESRE 46,526 (5,336)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBSZEYWEM (RD)
cash equivalents FE 35,781 (5.168)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FRE RIS EED 179 5,347
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRESRASEEY 35,960 179
Analysis of the balances of cash and ReRBRSEEUMERDNT
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 35,960 2,499
Bank overdraft (Note 22) RITE (F1722) - (2,320)
35,960 179
The notes on pages 82 to 147 are an integral part of these consolidated financial 82 E 147 BFTEIM sF Jhiz 47 A BT 15 2k a9 4 AR 36
statements. 7 e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION, REORGANISATION
AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

11

General information

Tree Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 9 March 2016 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's registered office is
P.0. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business is 28/F., Horizon Plaza, 2 Lee Wing Street, Ap Lei Chau,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the sale and distribution of furniture and home accessories,
distribution and licencing of intellectual property rights, the
provision of styling and consulting services and the operation of a
café.

As at 31 March 2018, the directors consider the immediate and
ultimate holding company of the Company to be Tiptop Honour
Limited ("Tiptop”), a company incorporated in Samoa.

The Company's shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 25 January 2018
(the “Listing”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018 were approved for issue by the board of directors on
13 June 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  GENERAL INFORMATION, REORGANISATION
AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

1.2

Reorganisation and basis of presentation
Pursuant to a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) of the
Company in connection with the listing of its shares on GEM of
the Stock Exchange, the Company became the holding company of
the companies now comprising the Group on 29 July 2016. Details
of the Reorganisation are set out in the paragraph headed
“Reorganisation” in the section headed “History, Development
and Reorganisation” in the Company’s prospectus dated 12
January 2018.

Prior to the Reorganisation, TREE Limited, the Group’s sole
operating subsidiary, was wholly owned and controlled by Tiptop.
The Group is under the common control of the Tiptop prior to and
after the Reorganisation. The Group comprising the Company and
its subsidiaries resulting from the Reorganisation is regarded as a
continuing entity.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared as if
the Company had always been the holding company of the Group.
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2017 include the results of operations and cash flows of the
companies now comprising the Group as if the current group
structure had been in existence and remained unchanged
throughout the periods, or since their respective dates of
incorporation when there is a shorter period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

21

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and include the applicable disclosure requirements of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The adoption
of new and amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note
22.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for cash surrender value of life
insurance which are carried at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"), which is the functional currency of the Company
and its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousands ("HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are
used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on the management’s best
knowledge and judgment of current events and actions, actual
results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2017

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
the following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
which are relevant to the Group's operations and effective
for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning on 1 April 2017:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in

included in Annual QOther Entities
Improvements to

HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Other than as noted below, the adoption of the amended
HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results and
financial position for the current and prior periods have
been prepared and presented.

Amendments to HKAS 7 “Disclosure Initiative”

The amendments require an entity to provide disclosure
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-
cash changes. A reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of liabilities arising from financing
activities is set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements. Consistent with the transition provisions of
the amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative
information for the prior year. Apart from the additional
disclosure in Note 30, the application of these
amendments has had no impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs have been
published but are not yet effective, and have not been
adopted early by the Group:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments'

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments’

HKFRS 16 Leases?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

HK(IFRIC)—-1Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration’

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Amendments to Classification and Measurement of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment Transactions'

Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 4 with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative
HKFRS 9 Compensation?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or
HKAS 28 Joint Venture*

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement?

Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and
HKAS 28 Joint Ventures?

Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property’
HKAS 40

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle'

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEESHBEREHME®
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 22 SHBERBEEEE 2
(Continued)
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued) (b) EBTEMRERNEBHE
WEER| (&)
Notes: Miat
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 . 201841 18 sk A& A
January 2018 B4 AR AR AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 201941 B 1Bk A& B4
January 2019 B F BRI A AR
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 3 R2021F1 A1 E kA& A
January 2021 B 4F 5 B A AR
4 Effective date not yet determined 4 AR B H R E

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group's accounting policy for the
first period beginning after the effective date of the
pronouncement. Information on new and amended HKFRSs
that are expected to have impact on the Group's
accounting policies is provided below. Other new and
amended HKFRSs are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”. It makes major changes
to the previous guidance on the classification and
measurement of financial assets and introduces an
“expected credit loss” model for the impairment of
financial assets.

The directors have identified the area that is expected to
be most impacted by the application of HKFRS 9 is the
impairment of financial assets applying the expected credit
loss model. This will apply to the Group's trade
receivables. For trade receivables, the Group applies a
simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit
losses as these items do not have a significant financing
components.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018. The directors do not consider
that the application of HKFRS 9 will have material financial
impact on the Group's financial performance and financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”

HKFRS 15 and the related clarification to HKFRS 15
(hereinafter referred to as "HKFRS 15") presents new
requirements for the recognition of revenue, replacing
HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts”,
and several revenue-related Interpretations. HKFRS 15
establishes a single comprehensive model that applies to
contracts with customers and two approaches to
recognising revenue; at a point in time or overtime. The
model features a contract-based five-step analysis of
transactions to determine whether, how much and when
revenue is recognised.

HKFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018. The directors do not consider that
the application of HKFRS 15 will have material financial
impact on the Group's financial performance and financial
position.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”
HKFRS 16 “Leases” will replace HKAS 17 and three related
Interpretations.

As disclosed in Note 2.11, currently the Group classifies
leases into finance leases and operating leases and
accounts for the lease arrangements differently, depending
on the classification of the lease. The Group enters into
some leases as the lessee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEREME)
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 22 STBEREESE 2
(Continued)
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued) (h) EBBRTEMNREMNEBHS

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the
way that lessors account for their rights and obligations
under a lease. However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted,
lessees will no longer distinguish between finance leases
and operating leases. Instead, subject to practical
expedients, lessees will account for all leases in a similar
way to current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the
commencement date of the lease, the lessee will
recognise a corresponding “right-of-use” asset. After initial
recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee would
recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the
right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As a
practical expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply this
accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where the
lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-value
assets, in which case the rental expenses would continue
to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group's accounting as a
lessee of leases of various warehouses, office and shop
premises which are currently classified as operating
leases. The application of the new accounting model is
expected to lead to an increase in both assets and
liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense
recognition in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the lease. As
disclosed in Note 28(b), as at 31 March 2018, the Group's
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases amount to HK$22,185,000 for office,
warehouses and shop premises, some of which is payable
between 1 and 5 years after the reporting date. Some of
these amounts may therefore need to be recognised as
lease liabilities, with corresponding right-of-use assets,
once HKFRS 16 is adopted. The Group will need to perform
a more detailed analysis to determine the amounts of new
assets and liabilities arising from operating lease
commitments on adoption of HKFRS 16, after taking into
account the applicability of the practical expedient and
adjusting for any leases entered into or terminated
between now and the adoption of HKFRS 16 and the
effects of discounting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Consolidation

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Where necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss.
Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable
at the reporting date. All dividends whether received out of
the investee’s pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised
in the Company's profit or loss.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial information of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The financial statements are
presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and
the Group's presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial
position;

° income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

° all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

25

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the assets to
its working condition and location for its intended use.
Depreciation of assets commences when the assets ready for
intended use.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to write
off the cost less their residue values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Over the lease terms
20%—-30%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fixtures and
office equipment

Motor vehicles 30%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets

Website development costs

Cost directly associated with the development of specific
websites, which include external direct costs of materials and
services consumed in developing the website are capitalised. The
capitalisation of such costs ceases no later than the point at
which the websites are substantially completed and ready for its
intended purpose. Website development costs are amortised on a
straight-line basis over a period of 5 years, which represent the
expected useful life of the website. Capitalised website
development costs stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Research and other development costs relating to website
development and website maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.

Trademarks

Trademarks are initially recorded at cost. These trademarks have
a finite useful lives and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis
over a period of 10 years.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and loans and receivables.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition depending on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired and where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Regular way purchases of financial assets are
recognised on trade date. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive

2.7

cash flows from the investments expire or the transferred and

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been

transferred.

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to assess

whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such

evidence exists, impairment loss is determined and recognised

based on the classification of the financial asset.

(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
designated at initial recognition at fair value through profit
or loss if the assets are part of a group of financial assets
which are managed and their performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management strategy and information about the Group of
financial assets is provided internally on that basis to the
key management personnel. The Group has designated the
life insurance policy in the name of the Group covering Ms.
Nicole Lucy Haslock (“Ms. Haslock”) at fair value through
profit or loss (Note 16).

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets
included in this category are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Fair value
is determined by reference to active market transactions or
using a valuation technique where no active market exists.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Financial assets (Continued)
(ii)  Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the
reporting date, which are classified as non-current assets.
Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate and transaction cost.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets other than at fair value
through profit or loss are reviewed to determine whether there is
any objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group
about one or more of the following loss events:

- Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

- It becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation;

- Significant changes in the technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the
debtor;

- The disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties; and

- A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets include
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows from the group of financial assets.
Such observable data includes but not limited to adverse changes
in the payment status of debtors in the group and, national or local
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in
the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and
receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original interest rate
(i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The
amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss of the period in
which the impairment occurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that it does
not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The
amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss of the period
in which the reversal occurs.

Impairment losses on financial assets other than financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and trade receivables that are
stated at amortised cost, are written off against the corresponding
assets directly. Where the recovery of trade receivables is
considered doubtful but not remote, the impairment losses for
doubtful receivables are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery of trade receivables is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade receivables directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account in respect of that receivable are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 SR1Z R PR X & Annual Report 4 %% 2018

2.

FESHBERE @)

2.7

EREEE)

EMEEREE)
FRX—HeREEZERFERBE
BrRATREE AR RKRADR
EHBAFERBZAIBREMNE - %
SR BRI EETRIAERNAE
BAZNFMR - AREARNEE
R BERA 2 BRLE BN
HERAFIELL -

1178 0 38 1 58 PR R SH A AN AR 9
ERMERREBECELRERE B
BERBENREEZREERMGERK
ReERE(MEBRERAREEZAREKE
ERR)UNEREECRIAH X (A
BEREARERZERFX)FHRZ
RECHNZHEETE - BRSBIHN
BERERRE 2 BENER -

HREBEREBERNERAREBD -
HIEEBERRREECEHERE
B - A2 ATRER 2R IE B 1R & B
m - EATEEHE R EERRER
B B 51 2 Bk (B R B A 3 B FE SRR (E
BERT 2 EERA - B2 AN
HE 2 BENER -

FURABEAABRZEBEER
REHER AR Z E 5B RIBZ R
BEERERENEREEME B85
JE W IR 2 W B4R AR A REE I FE 52
EREATREME - BITE RE FE MR IR AL
EBEEBFARERE - EAEERR
B 5 EWFIRR B A e Bl - R
AT E 2 BEE RN E SRR
TR - T Bt % S R R TR I R e B
B#5A 2 EEE T AREE - Higl
B R A ARERR B < BN BB
BREm- BERENEMEHRER
Yg 81 5t i B 33 0 5 EY BRRR I 1R 2 O T

7
o ©



97

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

29

2.10

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where
applicable, other costs that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition, is calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less
applicable variable selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand. For
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows
presentation, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

Financial liabilities
The Group's financial liabilities mainly include bank borrowings,
finance lease liabilities and trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All interest
related charges are recognised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy for borrowing costs (Note 2.17).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender or substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liabilities are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference
in the respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

e MR ME

2. FESTHEHBE @)

2.8

29

210

rE
FETRRARRR] B IR HE 2 REE
SRk - KABEAABENAE  RE
RABFERXNERFBR L EESR
B AR T EE AR O RS (RS8R ) » B
Ty ke P9 R 8 - A EIIFER)
BRBEBBEP ZHAEERER
ZAEHERRE -

BERAECEEY
ReRASSENRERBITRFR
ZHE - REARSRBRZ 2T
T RLRALSENBERRER
EETERAEIRSER 2 — 55
ZRITE °

THEE
AEEMERBEIERFERTE
E REMEREUNRESREME
HERIE -

EAEERREBIEASKNIEZE]
w7 RIAERSREAE - A EA
BB AR AEENE K
RREERA (HE217) -

EREE N R ERERIEUESE
o SRR ERERAE -

ERALRAENRA -—ERXAS—2
BEBERBEERNZRZIERERE
BERRETERETZA —2RA
EER - B BB SE AT 1R B 4L
LHHERERAAE  XHERHAE - M
BRREE ZRNIERAER -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED & X2 i 5 PR A & Annual Report 4F % 2018



98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial liabilities (Continved)

Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liahilities are measured at initial value less the

capital element of lease repayments (see Note 2.11).

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at

least twelve months after the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.

2.11 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets
for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether

the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are

classified as operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Leases (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the
leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments of such assets, are included in
property, plant and equipment and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as
obligation under finance leases.

Subsequent accounting for assets held under finance lease
agreements corresponds to those applied to comparable
acquired assets. The corresponding finance lease liability
is reduced by lease payments less finance charges.

Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are charged
to profit or loss over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge
on the remaining balance of the obligations for each
accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Operating lease charges as the lessee

When the Group has the right to use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from
the leased assets. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rental, if
any, are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

212

213

214

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deduction from share premium (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs
directly attributable to the equity transaction.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable for the sale of goods and services provided in the
normal course of business, net of discounts. Provided it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised as follows:

Sale of furniture and home accessories are recognised upon the
transfer of the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the
customer. This is usually taken as the time when the goods are
delivered and the customer has accepted the goods.

For distribution and license fee income, fixed upfront distribution
and license fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
terms of distribution agreement and license period. License fee
income from the licensing arrangement is recognised in
accordance with the terms of agreements.

Food and beverage income from the operation of a café is
recognised at the point of sale to customers.

Commission income from consignment sales are recognised when
the goods are sold by the Group.

Consulting income is recognised when the services have been
performed.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BREME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEETBERBIEw)
POLICIES (continued)
2.15 Impairment of non-financial assets

215 EeRMEERE

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and the
Company's investment in subsidiaries are subject to impairment
testing. They are tested for impairment whenever there are
indications that the asset’'s carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal, and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent from those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level.

Impairment losses recognised for cash generating units are
charged pro rata to the assets in the cash generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. Contributions are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss as employees render
services during the year. The Group’s obligations under these
plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulative compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Equity-settled share-based compensation transactions

In June 2015, Tiptop has granted share awards to Ms. Mary
Kathleen Babington (“Ms. Babington”) in return for her continuous
services to the Group (Note 26(a)). In January 2018, the Group
adopted a Share Option Scheme (Note 26(b)) under which the
Group receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the
services received in exchange for the grant of the equity
instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to
the fair value of the equity instruments granted including any
market performance conditions; excluding the impact of any
service and non-market performance vesting conditions; and
including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of shares that are expected to
vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16

2.17

Employee benefits (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based compensation transactions
(Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of shares that are expected to vest based
on the non-market performance and service conditions. The Group
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

When an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income earned on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, for the
acquisition, construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete
and prepare the asset for its intended use. A qualifying asset is an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are
expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying
asset when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are being
undertaken. Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying
asset for its intended use or sale are complete.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Accounting for income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, tax
losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused tax
credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit,
including existing taxable temporary differences, will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period the liahility is settled or the
asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BREME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEHBESE@®
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Accounting for income tax (Continued)

218 FISHETEE @)

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net
if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
in net if, and only if,

(a)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-makers,
who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as

the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

2.20 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s ordinary shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Company's financial statements in
the period which the dividends are approved by the Company's

shareholders or board of directors, where appropriate.

2.21 Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, a

party in considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person's

family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.21 Related parties (Continued)
(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

3. CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below:

Allowance for inventories

Net realisable value of inventories (Note 17) is the actual or estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitor
actions in response to changes in market condition. Management

reassesses these estimations at the end of each reporting period.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 SR1Z R PR X & Annual Report 4 %% 2018

3.

EREFHET R

flEt KA DENBELR R E MR RS
G BREELEETRBRATLRSAE
ZRKFHZIEH -

ARE ARG G BB B R
£ - AULEH 2 BEHEH RO BSREHE
RS HT—BURFEN AEREE
BREEE E EARERRL i RERRT
i

FERE
FEMHABEFE(MNE17)EREELS
ZEBRSAEET S BRI EIER 2 EET K
A o BT HER R T K S LS
HEMBELS - FENAERFETE
BFHTFRETRECMEREATTEIME £
BEANE - EEENSRERREGZEMR
ite



109

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAN(EIAI:\L STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating activities are attributable to a single reportable
and operating segment focusing primarily on the sale and distribution of
furniture and home accessories in Hong Kong, including the operation of
a café inside its retail shop, distribution and licencing of intellectual
property rights and the provision of styling and consulting services. This
operating segment has been identified on the basis of internal
management reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-makers
(the "CODM"), being the executive directors of the Group. The CODM
mainly reviews revenue derived from sale of furniture and home
accessories, distribution and license fee income, food and beverage
income, commission income and consulting income, which are measured
in accordance with the Group's accounting policies. However, other than
revenue information, no operating results and other discrete financial
information is available for the assessment of performance of the
respective type of revenue. The CODM reviews the overall results of the

4.
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Group as a whole to make decisions about resources allocation. Elv&:obapin U NNE
Accordingly, no segment information is presented. An analysis of the
Group's revenue is as follows:
2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FET
Sale of furniture and home accessories REAMREMRMEE 73.414 70,373
Distribution and license fee income DI RETAIEE A 3,504 2,720
Food and beverage income B R A 1,641 3,852
Commission income fﬁﬁfﬁ”ﬂ(?\ 202 271
Consulting income EEEI N 312 100
79,073 71,316

The Group has a large number of customers, no revenue from any
individual customer exceeded 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during
the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: nil).

As of 31 March 2018 and 2017, all of the non-current assets (other than
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) of the Group were located
in Hong Kong and all revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
March 2018 and 2017 were originated in Hong Kong.

AEBBEAERERF HE2018F3ANH
IEFE - e TR ER RS A LB
#10% (2017 4 « 4®) o

R2018F K2017F3A3NH - AEEMNEE
RBEEGFERTANECHEEE)
BANER - BARSEREZE 201845 2017
FIANALFENZEHRETREES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B AR M

5. OTHERINCOME 5, HkA
2018 2017
2018 £F 2017 4
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Bank interest income RITHEULA 5 1
Sundry income FEIEUA 129 285
134 286
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. BIRAA
2018 2017
2018 2017 €
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITEENBRX 302 140
Finance charges on obligations under MEHERE REER
finance lease 14 -
316 140
7. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. FRAEA
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): FREBBIENER, GEA) U TEEES
H o
2018 2017
2018 2017
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Auditor's remuneration 1% S4B % B 410 258
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BREATHTFERA 25,515 26,303
Depreciation of property, Y - BB MR ETE
plant and equipment 1,400 1,164
Amortisation of intangible assets B A ERE 100 98
Operating lease charges in respect of: LTEEMNKEEHEER
— Warehouses, office and shop -BE - WAEKEE
premises 10,831 10,749
— Equipment ] - 23
Net exchange loss V& 5B e R 242 10
Fair value gain on cash surrender AESRBHFORESEEBEZ
value of life insurance AR EERE (80) (65)
Write off of inventories FEMH - 32

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 SR1Z R PR X & Annual Report 4 %% 2018



111

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BREME

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8. EEEANMXZ(BREEZEHM
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2018 2017
2018 ¢ 2017 48
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Salaries, bonus and allowances e - LA ERL 19,030 19,596
Retirement benefit scheme contributions IRIRBFIET BN 757 749
Share-based compensation expense LARS 17 7 50 B0 357 B B =2 656 2,331
20,443 22,676
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIBHIMAxX
2018 2017
2018 £F 2017
Note HK$000 HK$'000
BaE FET FEIL
Current tax — Hong Kong BNERiE — &8
Current year REE 1,430 1,012
Over provision in respect of prior years 3@ 7% F & HAEE R (14) (59)
1,416 953
Deferred tax EER T
Origination and reversal of A R E A N
temporary differences 23 (66) 33
Income tax expense Fre®if > 1,350 986

The difference between the actual income tax charge in the consolidated REFEE2HENERNDERMSHE AER R
statement of comprehensive income and the amounts which would result R EEERAEEREMERENER
from applying the enacted tax rate to loss before income tax can be AIERRANT -
reconciled as follows:
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FEIL
Loss hefore income tax BrATB R AT E R (8,752) (6,162)
Tax on loss before income tax, calculated at K TS %% B S 18 Y F54 18
the statutory rates applicable in (R HEERE R AER
the tax jurisdiction concerned BEREER R E) 1,246 (1,002)
Tax effect on non-taxable income BERFWAR RIS E (13) (19)
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses PRI L BRI 22 131 2,066
Over provision in respect of prior years BAFERERE (14) (59)
Income tax expense PSR 1,350 986
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continved)

Notes:

(a) Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

9. M5

Bt

(a)

BB @)

FEEEMEH

ARRREHEFHSAREANASHETE
MR RERRBERRA - F LR H R
MEREMEH -

(b)  British Virgin Islands (“BVI") income tax ) REARRBES(RBERRES]ME
The Company's direct subsidiary in BVI was incorporated under the BVI ARRNRBERBRBES EENB AR
Business Companies Act, 2004 and accordingly, is exempted from BVI THiRIE2004 F R BHER RS ERRE
income tax. AR AR SR EER RS

FR1SHL -

(c) Hong Kong profits tax c) EBEFIEH
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2017: BEBNEB I ARF E B TERT ER B % T
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year. 116.5% (2017 4F : 16.5% ) BB R FF ©

10. DIVIDENDS 10. RE
2018 2017
2018 20174
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
BiaE FET FET
Dividend declared and paid by the Company XA &) & &k & 2 I A% B, (a) - 5,000
Dividend declared and paid by TREE Limited A HR A A IE &1
B 2 (b) - 10,409
- 15,409

Notes: Btet -

(a) An interim dividend of HK$50,000 per share amounting to HK$5,000,000 (a) HZE217F3 A3 BIEFE - &AX50,000%8
were paid to the shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31 7T 3£ 515,000,000/ 7T BB B B IR T AR
March 2017. NRIRE o

(b) Dividend disclosed during the year ended 31 March 2017 represented (b) REBZE207F3ANBULEFENMEE 2K

dividend declared before the completion of the Reorganisation and paid by
TREE Limited to its then shareholder. The dividend declared and payable to
Tiptop was fully paid by offsetting against the amount due from Tiptop. The
rates for dividend and the number of shares ranking for dividend are not

presented as such information is not considered meaningful.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 SR1Z R PR X & Annual Report 4 %% 2018

BEREAZKAICERZES  BEA
AEERAARNTEERZBR - BEE
IR & EN T RIANREE B B ERE
TERIRBEI N - ERARABRE ZLER
BEREBBREZRMHBELESE - K
WAREFIAFEH



11. LOSS PER SHARE 1.

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basic loss per share (a)
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to equity
holders of the Company is based on the following:

e MR ME

BRER

BREXEE
D R A NS SR A 1R
TR T A RIS

2018 2017
2018 20174
Loss for the year attributable to equity AAFIHEZIFEARGEEA
holders of the Company (HK$'000) &8 (T ) 10,102 7,148
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  FB LA E &R E A EER
for the purpose of calculating basic loss LB TS (TR)
per share (thousands) 1,259,605 1,188,000
Basic loss per share FREXREE
(expressed in HK cents per share) (ATRRABALTI)R) 0.80 0.60

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate
the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2018
includes (i) 100 ordinary shares in issue at beginning of the year;
(i) 1,187,999,900 new ordinary shares issued under capitalisation
issue (Note 24(iii)), as if all these shares had been in issue
throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, and (iii) 71,605,000
shares, representing the weighted average of 396,000,000 new
ordinary shares issued under the public offer and placing of shares
of the Company (the “Share Offer”) (Note 24(iv)).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate
the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2017 has
been adjusted retrospectively for the effects of the Reorganisation
and capitalisation issue (Note 24(iii)) as if the Reorganisation and
the capitalisation issue had been completed on 1 April 2016.

Diluted loss per share (b)
Diluted loss per share equals the basic loss per share as there

were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during the

years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

FAUAGTEEE2018FE3ANAILLFE
KRR EAR BB E BRI F I E
B RFEH B 21TH100 % L EAT
(iR & & A fb 2 17 FF & 17 1)
1,187,999,900 A8 & 288 A% ( Bf & 24(iii)) -
WO AEBRNDEREE201843
ANHEEEEFECERTT - Kiii)
71,605,000 3% fig 1 - B E AR IR A F B
EREERATRM ([RHEE]FT
%17 #9 396,000,000 % 7 i A% 0 #& F
BE(HIRE24(v) °

BUUEEHZE2017F3ANB ILFEE
K AR E N B 18 89 I R AR N AE 19 B
EREARERCEITHZEELE
AR (B 5E 24(i01) - AN EA R E R
{2172 2016 F4 A1 H 5K °

BRE#BEEE

MAEZ=2018F 201743 A318 &
FEWMETHELRR  SREE
BERERTREREISE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR MEE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND 122 EEMERESEH
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) EE=M<
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed pursuant BIERBGM LR - HEQGE
to the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong BIZEIBINIER AR (BEEEHNHIE
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of RORPIE 2B EENEEREBTHR
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: AERBEMT :
Basic Retirement
salariesand  benefit scheme Share-based
Name of director Espe Notes Fees allowances contribution compensation Total
=98 BINER Y3
izt ne FEREN SRR AEENEM @t
HKS 000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FEn FEn FEn FET FET
Year ended BZEN8F3IANA
31 March 2018 LFE
Executive directors: HTES:
Ms. Babington Babington &+ (i - 2,049 18 656 213
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak o it 120 - - - 120

Non-executive directors: ~ FFHTESE :

Ms. Haslock Haslock 221 210 - - - 210
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BEEE (ii 30 - - - 30
Independent Non- BUFHTES

executive directors:
Mr. Sit Hoi Wan Kenneth BRI (i 3% - - - 36
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BEBELAE (i) 36 - - - 36
Mr. Yeung Man Chung BXBiE

Charles (i) 36 - - - 36

468 2,049 18 656 3191

Year ended BZEW1E3R3A

31 March 2017 LLEE
Executive directors: HTES:
Ms. Babington Babington i - 1979 18 2,331 4378
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak hEBEELE 120 - _ _ 1

Non-executive directors; ~ JFH{TEE
Ms. Haslock Haslock 221 240 - - - 20
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EEEE (i) - - - - -

360 1979 18 2,331 4,688
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (a)

Notes:

(i) Ms. Babington is also the chief executive officer of the Group.

(i) Appointed on 22 April 2016.
(iii) Appointed on 25 January 2018.
There were no arrangements under which a director of the

Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Five highest paid individuals (b)

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the five individuals whose
emoluments were the highest in the Group include one (2017: one)
director, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. Details of the emoluments of the remaining four
(2017: four) highest paid individuals are as follows:

e MR ME

12. ESHEREEFHN =)

BEME )
At -

(i) Babington 22 = 71 & AN £ B M9 1T B 42
# o

(ii) 2016454 B 22 HIEZRAT »

(i)  PA2018F1A2BBEERT -

RE E201849F R2017E3A31 8 14
o WEIMAAQARESEEHENRR
BERETMAMEAOLHE -

LTEBRSFMAL
HE2018F3IANBILFEE A£E
AEREFHALTHRIBE—ZES
(20174 : —%)  BENHS RER
EXE2NHSsTAN BAKTES
(2017 : IR B HMA OIS
RIFFIBT ¢

2018 2017
2018 20174
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
Basic salaries and allowances EARF & SR 2,135 2,853
Discretionary bonus IS TEAT 199 82
Retirement benefit scheme RIRRE R ET B LR
contributions 69 71
2,403 3,006
The emoluments fell within the following bands: Bl 42ZB N T LA T SalE -
2018 2017
2018 F 20174
Emolument bands B < %5 [
Nil-HK$1,000,000 2 % 1,000,000 % 7T 4 3

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T 1,500,000 /& 7T

For the year ended 31 March 2018, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any of the directors or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office (2017: nil).

HEWSFIANABLFE  A£E
TEATNESSAETRaHMAL
TME  EABBERERSEMALREE
SR I £E B 05 1) 48 5 SR BB 1 (8
(2017 4F « #&%) -
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e B RRME

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. V¥ BEKRE
Furniture
and fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
RAREE
HENERE HERBARE "E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FEr FET FET FET
At1 April 2016 M2016F4 518
Cost B 6,360 2,553 1,235 10,148
Accumulated depreciation ZEHITE (4.935) (1.911) (745) (7.591)
Net ook amount REFE 1425 642 490 2,557
Year ended 31 March 2017 BEW1E3ANBLEE
Opening net book amount HARESHE 1,425 642 490 2,557
Additions NE 1,530 253 - 1,783
Depreciation neE (656) (353) (155) 1,164)
Closing net hook amount HREREFE 2,299 542 335 3,176
At 31 March 2017 and RWITEIANER
1 April 2017 2017%F481H
Cost R 7,316 2,806 1,235 11,357
Accumulated depreciation E:inE (5,017) (2.264) (900) (8,181)
Net book amount REFE 2,299 542 335 3,176
Year ended 31 March 2018 BZWBFIANBLEE
Opening net book amount IR FE 2,299 542 335 3176
Additions NE 509 281 522 1,318
Depreciation E (785) (356) (259) (1,400)
Closing net hook amount HREREFE 2,023 43 508 3,004
At 31 March 2018 R2018FE3ANH
Cost AR 1,825 3,093 1,751 12,675
Accumulated depreciation Z:E (5,802) (2,620) (1,159) (9,581)
Net book amount REFE 2,023 413 598 3,094

At 31 March 2018, the net book value of the Group’s motor vehicle held
under finance lease was HK$400,000 (2017: nil).
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14 BREEE
Website
development
costs Trademarks Total
#9 3k BE 3 AR [y st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
At 1 April 2016 M201654 818
Cost DN 490 - 490
Accumulated amortisation BT (8) - (8)
Net book amount BREEE 482 - 482
Year ended 31 March 2017 BZ2017F3ANBLEE
Opening net book amount B AR EDFHE 482 - 482
Additions NE - 5 5
Amortisation 8 (98) - (98)
Closing net hook amount HREREEE 384 5 389
At 31 March 2017 and R2017FE3ANAEAR
1 April 2017 20174818
Cost D% 490 5 495
Accumulated amortisation ZHE (1086) - (106)
Net book amount REFE 384 5 389
Year ended 31 March 2018 BZE2018F3ANHLEE
Opening net book amount BRYIER A FE 384 5 389
Additions INE 40 - 40
Amortisation 5 (99) (1) (100)
Closing net book amount HRERERE 325 4 329
At 31 March 2018 HR2018E3 31 H
Cost B 530 5 535
Accumulated amortisation ZEHEE (205) (1) (206)
Net book amount REFE 325 4 329
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e B RRME

15. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2018 and 2017
were as follows:

Issued and
Country/place of paid-up

15.

i B~ ]
R2018FE K 2017 F3 AN B EEME AR
FEIBIT -

Equity interest held

Name of company incorporation capital by the Company Principal activities
a8 BY 3 Y BBTR
NEIECE EIEY: 1) BEBRAE ARRFENRE FEXK
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4

Directly held by the Company

KAREERFE

TREE Investment Group Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

TREE Investment Group Limited ~ HBAR 7B S 12E7T 100% 100% &R

Indirectly held by the Company

AR EEEE

TREE Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Sale and distribution of furniture
and home accessories,
consignment sales, distribution
and licencing of intellectual
property rights, the provision of
styling and consulting services
and the operation of a café

REBRAT N 28T 100% 100% $HEMDHERALKE
fieh - FEHE - DK
STRI R AN AERE - HR 4
Rt Kb s AR S M g
—fEynmERE

16. CASH SURRENDER VALUE OF LIFE INSURANCE 16. ASRBHNBOBRSEE

The Group has invested in an insurance policy for Ms. Haslock, a director
and a key management personnel of the Company. The Group is the
beneficiary of such investment. The carrying amount represented the cash
surrender value of the policy and approximates its fair value at the end of
the reporting date. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the life insurance was
pledged to a bank to secure banking facilities of the Group (Note 22(b)).
Details of fair value measurement are set out in Note 31.6.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 SR1Z R PR X & Annual Report 4 %% 2018

AEEEAARFEEHRFTEEEAES
Haslock Z LI IE — DR - AEE 2R E
WSZEA - HEREEDASBRENBROE S
BE THERKEAHANAREER
o R2018F R2017F3A3NH  ZAFR
BREHFRITUBRNEBESRITRE
(MF3E22(b) IRARE - AR BEMNTEHRS
BAMIFES16 ©



17.

18.

119
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INVENTORIES 1. 78
2018 2017
2018 5 2017 £F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Finished goods X 10,332 9,963
Goods in transit TBRE 1,043 -
11,375 9,963
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18, HE5 % R
2018 2017
2018 ¢ 2017 F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$°000
Bt FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 EWFRIE
From third parties EWE=F 1,212 318
From a related company JE Y — FEl B B R R 29(c) 24 -
(a) 1,236 318
Other receivables Hit ek E
Deposits, prepayments and Ze - ENFIEREM
other receivables FEW FRIE 6,116 5,226
Prepayment to suppliers ) 4 FE P T A 3R 0B 828 1,140
Prepayment to a related company A —FEI B A A1 TR BOR 29(c) 3,600 -
Amount due from a related JE Uy — [ BB EsE 2 R RO 5K IE 29(c)
company - 471
Prepaid/Deferred IPO costs N EEE R AREE
A - 4241
(b) 10,544 11,078
11,780 11,396
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continved)

The directors of the Group considered that the fair value of trade and
other receivables are not materially different from their carrying amounts

because these amounts have short maturity periods on their inception.

(a) Trade receivables

Majority of the Group's sales to its customers are in cash, by
credit card, or by other forms of electronic payments (such as EPS).
There were no credit terms granted to the customers and
distributor, but the Group allows credit period of 2 to 3 days to the
payment vendors. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding trade receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.

The ageing analysis based on recognition date of the trade
receivables is as follows:

18. ESRHEMEWFIE®)
AEEEERE  BRNE S REMEKTE
MEE BB EE - M AR BERE
EEETEEAESR -

(a)

85 BWRIE
AEBERETEFEHHRE D HE B
BRE - EARHEMEFNIFUER
(NBPE) XN - AEELEAETS
Eo#EBERHEREER  EXKE
RMYXNRBHEBIEIRNEE
H o 7N B S SRR PR I L R I
MWEZEUHIA - U EERREE
&K - AfEGmSREEEE R
A e

€ 5 WSO R R B SRR ST
W -

2018 2017

2018 £F 2017

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FET FAET

1-30 days 1E230K 1,226 298
31-90 days CIEX PN - 19
91-180 days 91 E 180K 10 1
1,236 318

As the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews receivables
for evidence of impairment on an individual basis. As at 31 March
2018, none of the trade receivables was determined as
individually impaired and written off as bad debts (2017: nil).
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continved)

(a)

(b)

e MR ME

18. ESRHEMEWFIE®)

Trade receivables (Continued) (a) EZEWKEAE)
The ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables that were REE B AEBEIZEEA S8 H
past due as at the reporting date but not impaired, based on due BRBERNE S EBFIEN R DT
date is as follows: wmr
2018 2017
2018 2017 £F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FEIL
1-90 days past due FEIE RPN 67 110
91-180 days past due wHI = 180 K 10 1
71 111
As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables of HK$1,159,000 (2017: M2018F3A3NH B 5 E KR IA
HK$207,000) were neither past due nor impaired. These related to 1,159,000 7T (2017 4F : 207,000 JT )
a number of payment vendors for whom there was no recent B 48 BR T AR B - 2SRRI
history of default. A 46 R GE SR 00 B ST T IR I
B -
Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a BEHERBENE ZERRIEER
number of customers that have a good track record of credit with ZHEAREBHRERTFEEERLEN
the Group. Based on past credit and payment history, management BERM - AR AENEERD LN
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of RESE - ERERE BEARZELS
these balances as there has not been a significant change in MIELRERE WA EEEE
credit quality and the balances are still considered to be fully WESXES)  BZSERDEES
recoverable. The Group did not hold any collateral in respect of Al E gk E - AREBEIWER S @A
trade receivables past due but not impaired. KAENE 5 RINGIERS A R
2o
Other receivables (b) HtzpEWRRIE

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, none of the amounts included in
other receivables were either past due or impaired.

R2018E & 20173 A31H st AHM
FEURFRIE R & S A HA SR E -
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19.

20.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2018, pledged bank deposits of HK$200,000 (2017: nil)
represents deposits pledged to a bank to secure a bank borrowing, which
carry interest at 0.1% (2017: nil) per annum (Note 22(b)).

Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit

19.

EBIEFRTERURBITESRK
H&

R2018FE3ANH EEXEFRITEFERAE
200,000 7T (2017 6F : 48) - {ERIIR FIRTT
LARVSSRITIEERTFR - FHEA0.1%(2017
F ) (FFsE22(b) ©

RITREBRIEE RRITERN XL ZEHF =

rates. e e
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 EFRHEHMESRIE
2018 2017
2018 £F 2017 £
Note HKS$'000 HK$'000
BiaE FET FAT
Trade payables B S EMARIE
To third parties ERE=F (a) 195 255
Other payables Hi X8
Accrued charges and other FERTE R R HE MR FIA
payables 2,242 3,407
Deposits receipt in advance TEWIE S 6,431 6,465
8,673 9,872
8,868 10,127

All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of the Group's
trade and other payables as at 31 March 2018 and 2017 were considered
to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

(a) Trade payables
There were no credit periods granted by the suppliers of the
Group. The ageing analysis of trade payables based on recognition

20 EZRHEMEMSRE@E

(a) BEZEMNFE
AEENHERLERHEMEE
Hl o B SN BURRIER B R Rk

date is as follows: DHTIAT -
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
0-30 days 0E30K 194 245
31-60 days 31E 60K 1 10
195 255

DEFERRED REVENUE 21. Bl

Deferred revenue represented advance distribution and license fee
received which is recognised over the distribution period stipulated in the
distribution contract and gift vouchers sold but not yet redeemed.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

RN SRR 0 A HRT AR 20 S HAME 2 A8
RHEWD HE R RERRLEEHER

REE RS -

2. TEEE

2018 2017
2018 5 2017 4
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
HiaE FHT FAET

Non-current EFRE
Finance lease liabilities mEHEaE (a) 335 -

Current B

Current portion of finance lease liabilities Fi & THE & &M ENHAE 5 (a) 87 -
Bank borrowings RITEE (b) 4,922 7,556
5,009 7,556
5,344 7,556
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e B RRME

22. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued) 22.
(a) Finance lease liabilities

(a)

The analysis of the Group’s obligations under finance lease is as

follows:

STEEE®)

MEHERE
HALEBERERENSTET -

2018 2017
2018 5 2017 F
HKS$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Total minimum lease payments: SEMENRETE -
Due within one year —FANEIH 107 -
Due in the second to fifth years REZFEERFEHE 366 -
473 -
Future finance charges on finance lease RMEHEZ REREEM (51) -
Present value of finance lease liabilities BMEHEAGBCRE 422 -
Present value of minimum lease SEESMNRZIRE
payments:
Due within one year —FANEIH 87 -
Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEERFENE 335 -
422 -
Less: Portion due within one year B REBEE N —FRE S
included under current liabilities (87) -
Portion due after one year included ERHABIE N —FEIHIEY
under non-current liabilities 335 -

The Group has entered into a finance lease for a motor vehicle.
The lease period is for 5 years. Under the terms of the lease, the

Group has the option to purchase the lease asset at a price that is

expected to be sufficiently lower than the fair value of the leased

asset at the end of the lease. The lease does not include options
to renew or any contingent rental provisions. The finance lease

bears interest at fixed rate.

Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured by the underlying

assets as the rights to the leased assets would be reverted to the

lessor in the event of default by repayment by the Group.
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22. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued) 2. FFEEE@®

(b) Bank borrowings (b) SRITEE

2018 2017

20185 2017 &

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

Mfax FET FET

Bank overdraft, unsecured RITESY - BRI (a) = 2,320

Bank loans: RITER

Secured AR (b) 2,739 760

Unsecured E T (c) 2183 4,476

4,922 7,556
As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, all of the Group’s bank borrowings MR20184F R201743A31H - A&
contain a repayable on demand clause and are shown under HIFTERITEEY S REREEN
current liabilities. The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are G3 TR RBEEE TR - R
considered to be a reasonable approximate of their fair values. As TEENERIERSAE AT EED
at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group's bank borrowings, based & PUE - 120184 201743 8
on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, B BEERERBENEEE
were repayable as follows: HE REERRITEEER THIH

FEE :

2018 2017

20185 2017 &

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Within one year or on demand —FAFIRER 2,715 4,79

In the second year RE—F 759 2,300

In the third to fifth year RE=FEFRF 1,388 460

4,922 7,556
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22.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 =R 2 5 BR A T Annual Report ¥R

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continved)
Bank borrowings (Continued)

(b)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

c)

As at 31 March 2017, bank overdrafts of HK$2,320,000 were
guaranteed by Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (“Mr. Tong"), a director of
the Company and the controlling shareholder of Tiptop, up to a
limit of HK$3,000,000.

As at 31 March 2018, the bank borrowings of HK$585,000 (2017:
HK$760,000) are secured, repayable by monthly instalments with
terms of 7 years and bears interest at floating rates. The bank
borrowings are denominated in the United States Dollars (“USD"),
with effective interest rate of 3.50% (2017: 2.75%) per annum as
at 31 March 2018. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the bank
borrowings are secured by the Group's life insurance policy
covering Ms. Haslock with sum insured of USD1,000,000 (Note
16).

As at 31 March 2018, the bank borrowings of HK$2,154,000 (2017:
nil) are secured, repayable by monthly instalments with terms of 5
years and bears interest at floating rates. The bank borrowings are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, with effective interest rate of
3.75% (2017: nil) per annum as at 31 March 2018. As at 31 March
2018, the bank borrowings are secured by the Group’s fixed
deposits of HK$200,000 (2017: nil) (Note 19). In addition to the
above, the bank borrowings were guaranteed by Mr. Tong up to a
limit of HK$2,500,000.

As at 31 March 2018, the bank borrowings of HK$912,000 (2017:
HK$1,719,000) are unsecured, repayable by monthly instalments
with terms of 5 years and bears interest at floating rates. The bank
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, with effective
interest rate of 4% (2017: 4%) per annum as at 31 March 2018.

As at 31 March 2018, bank borrowings of HK$1,271,000 (2017:
HK$2,757,000) are unsecured, repayable by monthly instalments
with terms of 2 years and bears interest at floating rates. The bank
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, with effective
interest rate of 3% (2017: 3%) per annum as at 31 March 2018. As
at 31 March 2018, the bank borrowings were guaranteed by the
Company (2017: Mr. Tong) up to a limit of HK$6,000,000 (2017:
HK$6,000,000).

The Group's banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of
covenants as are commonly found in lending arrangements with

financial institutions. If the Group was to breach the covenants,

the drawn down facilities would become payable on demand. In

addition, the bank loan agreements contain clauses which give
the lender the right at its sole discretion to demand immediate
repayment at any time irrespective of whether the Group has

complied with the covenants and met the scheduled repayment

obligations. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with

these covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments of
the loans and does not consider it probable that the bank will
exercise its discretion to demand repayment for so long as the

Group continues to meet these requirements.

2018

22

STEEE®)

(b)

RITEE@®

(a) 72017438318 » #R7738 5% 2,320,000
BITHEARAEEFRBTBERBRR
BEEE(BEREDER  &aR
%A /53,000,000 7T °

(b) 201843 A31H » 4 %8 /585,000
78 7T (2017 4F © 760,000 T ) &) SR 1T
BEAEERE - 7FH - BEASH
BEWIRFBA KB - ZFRTT

BEUET(TET])FHE - 12018

F3ANB 2 EBRFH XK AB3I50%

(2017 4F : 275%) ° 720184 %2017

FIANE ZERITEETUAR

% & AHaslockZZ T IR IREE &

1000)000%719@/\71% BRI (B

£ 16

201843 A31H
76 7T (2017 4F - ﬂH)E’JiE
HA - 5FEH

& 8 732,154,000
TEERE
A AN BEENIR

FENFIEE S - ;i%ﬂif BB A
JoRH{E - R2018FE3A3NH 2 BE

E R K AH3T75% (20174F B ) B
201853 A31H - DZ RITEE T
7N 5 [E /9 5E B3 15 5K 200,000 75 7T (2017
) EEB(E19) o Br Bt
SN RITEBEHBELEER &5
[ %8 42,500,000 8 T °

(c) M20184E3 A31H » 4 %8 4912,000

T (2017 4F + 1,719,000 7T ) H98R 1T
BEAEEE sFH BEASH

BEWIRFBA KB - ZFRTT
EE B TETE - 7R2018F3A31

B2 BBF R 34% (20174 : 4%) o

201843 A31H » 4 %8 41,271,000
T (2017 4F = 2,757,000 7T) H98R 1T
BEREEE 2FH - BEASH
BRWIRFZBA KB - ZFRTT
%Eu;ﬁﬁgﬂa mmgiaﬁlm
HZEBEE AKX B3%(Q2017F :
3%) e #2018¢3H31 A RITEE
AARE(20174F - FEE) R
& 1= PR %8 /6,000,000 7% 7T (2017 4F -
6,000,000 7T) ©

AEEZRITEERAFUBEREEL
ZEERTE ANREEEITRY

AEE - WASERZREEEE
REEFHERERER - tho 0 %

LRITERBRIAB K AFFEX
AR 2 RERER ZESRBIRE R - T A
EEREEETEMRE REITIRE
BRCEMT AEBETHESFEHZ
ERF2ET W—EHRFER I
RERBAEEBBELTRSHTE
ZERITEBTIARAJRETEERERE
B o
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION

The net movement in the deferred tax assets during the year is as

follows:

23. EZERIE

RAFEE  RERBREENESFEMAT

HK$'000

T#ET
At 1 April 2016 R201656F4 A1H 256
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) RIBRAMER (K 9) (33)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R2017F3A31HK2017F4A1H 223
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) Wige AR (MaE9) 66
At 31 March 2018 7201853 831 H 289

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the
year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within

the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

RAEE - AFt R HR — BB E R AR
e BEMSHREERBBEHNT

Deferred tax assets ELEBEEE
Accelerated
accounting
depreciation
EEFHITE
HK$ 000
FHT
At 1 April 2016 R20165%F4 A1H 336
Recognised in profit or loss RBRAER (48)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R2017F3 /3B R2017F4/81H 288
Recognised in profit or loss RIBRATER 50
At 31 March 2018 R2018%F3 831 H 338

Deferred tax liabilities

EEHREER

Accelerated tax

amortisation

s B TE 2 6N

HK$ 000

FAET

At 1 April 2016 R20165F4 A1H (80)
Recognised in profit or loss RIBZARER 15
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R2017F3 831 BR2017F481H (65)
Recognised in profit or loss RIEEAER 16
At 31 March 2018 R2018F3 831 H (49)
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, BRI
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
RE A R4 HEE
Notes HK$ 000
Mfax FET

Authorised: EE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each HR%0.01 8 T E AR

At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 and R 201644 A1 « 20174

1 April 2017 3ANBR217F4A1H 38,000,000 380

Increase in authorised share capital SETE R A IE AN (i) 4,962,000,000 49,620

At 31 March 2018 20183 A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000

Issued and fully paid: SRTEHE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each IR 0.01 BT E B

At 1 April 2016 R20164%4 818 1 -

Allotment of shares B 28 A% 1) (i) 9 -

At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 2017 F3 A31 B X 2017 F

4H1H 100 -

Capitalisation issue BEARETT (iii) 1,187,999,900 11,880

Issuance of shares under Share Offer AR IEIR 1D B E2E1TAY D (iv) 396,000,000 3,960

At 31 March 2018 A2018FE3A31H 1,584,000,000 15,840

Notes: Btat -

(i) Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders dated 5 January (i) RIEBEA2018F1 AsBNREZERZE
2018, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from 2 #E15384,962,000,000 AR - ANQA]
HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to #) 7% TE B 7K /3 380,0007% JT (9 /38,000,000
HK$50,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each % 0% 0.01 78 7T &Y 3 38 A% ) 32 hi % 50,000,000
by the creation of additional 4,962,000,000 ordinary shares, all of which 78 7T (4 £%5,000,000,000 A% & A% 0.01 & T )
shall rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares of the BR) - ZEFRES THEARTRER
Company. DEBREHA

(i) On 29 July 2016, two ordinary shares of TREE Limited were transferred (i) 201657 B29H « KK B R 2 & # M AR
from Tiptop to the Group at the consideration of 99 ordinary shares of TRRAEBEEETAER  REALD
HK$0.01 each allotted and issued by the Company to Tiptop. These shares AIABTBA B R EITRER001EITH
rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects. TR - AR ES T HERERN =

BREMA o

(i) Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders dated 5 January li) RIZFEBHA2018F1 ASHMREEERZ
2018, 1,187,999,900 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were allotted and £ EBBARARMDEERERNNERS
issued, credited as fully paid at par, by way of capitalisation of the sum of FAHEA1.880000 B BT EAN - BLEE &
approximately HK$11,880,000 standing to the credit of the share premium 77 R%0.014701,187,999,900 B L I fE A
account of the Company. BRI AE R TR -

{ivy  Upon Listing on 25 January 2018, the Company issued 396,000,000 new (iv) ARQER2018F1/258 Lk EiBR

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.156 per share by way
of Share Offer. The gross proceeds of approximately HK$61,776,000 of
which HK$3,960,000, representing the par value of these ordinary shares,
was credited to the share capital of the Company and the remaining
proceeds of HK$57,816,000 was credited to the share premium account of
the Company.

Incremental costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the new
shares amounting to HK$14,372,000 was treated as a deduction against
the share premium account arising from the issuance.
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25. RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are

26.

set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the proceeds from
issuance of the shares of the Company over its par value, net of
share issuance expenses.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment of
distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business

Capital reserve
Capital reserve arises from capital contribution by the shareholder
of the Company Note 26(a).

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Incentive Shares awarded to a key
management personnel by Tiptop

On 1 June 2015, pursuant to an Incentive Shares Deed entered
among Tiptop, TREE Limited and Ms. Babington, a director and a
key management personnel of the Group, (collectively, the
“Parties”), Tiptop has agreed to award and transfer 5% of its
equity interest in TREE Limited or its holding company or its
successor entity pursuant to any pre-IPO restructuring (the
“Incentive Shares”) to Ms. Babington within thirty business days
after 1 June 2015 at a consideration of HK$1. The Incentive
Shares were granted to recognise Ms. Babington's prior
contribution and to give incentive in order to retain her for the
continual growth and expansion of the Listing Business (as
defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 12 January 2018).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arE B AR M

26. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

Incentive Shares awarded to a key
management personnel by Tiptop (Continued)
Pursuant to the Incentive Shares Deed, Ms. Babington must return
the Incentive Shares to Tiptop at a cost of HK$1 if she terminates
or gives notice to terminate her employment with TREE Limited
prior to the Agreed Date (being the earlier of: (i) the date of any
IPO; (ii) the date of any change of control as defined in the
employment contract; or (iii) 30 June 2017). As at 31 March 2017,
the estimated date of an IPO is in 2017. The Incentive Shares
Deed also includes a put option (the “Put Option”) and tag along
rights with Tiptop, pursuant to which, on the condition that (i) the
profit of TREE Limited for each of the years ending 31 March 2016
and 2017 are not less than HK$10,000,000 and HK$10,000,000,
respectively; and (i) an IPO does not take place within twenty-four
months from 1 June 2015, Ms. Babington is entitled to exercise
the Put Option to sell back the Incentive Shares to Tiptop at a total
consideration of HK$5,000,000 on or after the date of sign off of
the audited financial statements of TREE Limited for the year
ending 31 March 2017 by the auditors. In addition, in the event of
an IPO, Ms. Babington may continue to exercise the Put Option at
any time within three months following the IPO if the market price
of the Incentive Shares falls below the option price of
HK$5,000,000 (the “Special Right to the Put Option”) immediately
prior to the date of any put notice. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the Incentive
Shares or the Put Option in cash. The Incentive Shares and the Put
Option were treated as linked and accounted for as a share-based
compensation transaction by way of capital contribution from the
shareholder and were fully vested on 30 June 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

Incentive Shares awarded to a key
management personnel by Tiptop (Continued)

The fair value of the Incentive Shares and the Put Option at the
date of grant i.e. 1 June 2015, was approximately HK$5,474,000.
The fair value is estimated by reference to the difference between
the consideration and the fair value of the underlying 5% equity
interest in TREE Limited, the Listing Business, and the Put Option
at the date of grant. The Company have used the discounted cash
flow method in determining the fair value of the underlying 5%
equity interest in TREE Limited and the option pricing model in
determining the fair value of the Put Option. The key assumptions
used in the discounted cash flow method at the grant date
includes the discount rate of 12.33% and projections of future
performance. The valuation of the Put Option was determined
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the following
principal assumptions were used in the valuation:

Fair value of shares at grant date HK$3,017,500
Exercise price at date of grant HK$5,000,000
Expected volatility 57.44%
Expected option life 2.08 years
Dividend yield 0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.42%

The underlying expected volatility was determined by reference to
historical data, calculated based on expected life of the Put
Option. Expectations of early exercise were incorporated into the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. No special features pertinent
to the options granted were incorporated into measurement of fair
value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arE B AR M

26. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Incentive Shares awarded to a key
management personnel by Tiptop (Continued)

On 31 May 2016, pursuant to a Supplemental Deed entered
among the Parties, it was further agreed that the Incentive Shares
will be transferred to Ms. Babington on or before 31 October 2016.
In addition, on 15 November 2016, pursuant to the Second
Supplemental Incentive Shares Deed entered among the Parties, it
was further agreed that the Special Right to the Put Option be
removed and Ms. Babington shall not be entitled to exercise the
Put Option for a period of six months commencing on the filing of
any listing application by TREE Limited or its direct or indirect
parent company for an IPO, and the Put Option and tag along
rights will lapse upon the Listing. As all of the above modifications
were not beneficial to Ms. Babington, as such, the Group has
continued to account for the original grant as if the modifications
had not occurred.

Pursuant to the Incentive Shares Deed, the Supplemental Deed
and as part of the Reorganisation, on 10 August 2016, Ms.
Babington through her wholly owned subsidiary, Rothley
Investment Limited, acquired 5% equity interest of the Company
from Tiptop at a consideration of HK$1.

The Group recognised a total expense of HK$656,000 (2017:
HK$2,331,000) for the year ended 31 March 2018 in relation to the
above share award granted by the shareholder of the Company.

Share Option Scheme adopted by the
Company

Pursuant to the written resolution of shareholders dated 5 January
2018, a share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 5 January 2018
(the “Share Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to
recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or any entity in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested
Entity”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the
Company (Continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30% of share
capital in issue from time to time. No options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes
adopted by the Group if the grant of such options will result in the
limit referred herein being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group) to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of share capital in issue
as at the date on which dealings in the Company’s shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the
“General Scheme Limit").

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group shall not exceed 10% of
share capital in issue as at the date of approval of the limit.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible
participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option under
the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of issued share capital for the time being.
Where any further grant of options under the Share Option
Scheme to a grantee would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and proposed to be
granted to such person (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of share capital in issue, such further grant
shall be separately approved by shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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arE B AR M

26. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the
Company (Continued)

The subscription price in respect of any option shall be at the
discretion of the directors, provided that it shall not be less than
the highest of (a) the closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in
one or more board lots of the Company's shares on the offer date;
(b) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for trade in one or
more board lots of the Company’s shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal
value of the shares.

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and by no other
person) for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which shall be
a business day, on which the offer is made to the eligible
participant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant in
respect of all shares which are offered to such eligible participant
when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly
signed by the eligible participant together with a remittance in
favour of the Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof is received by the Company within such time as may
be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days
from the offer date). Such remittance shall in no circumstances be
refundable.

No option was granted under the Share Option Scheme during the
year ended 31 March 2018.
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e BRRME

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 21. AATMBEMRRE
COMPANY
2018 2017
2018 ¢ 20174
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FETL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RETBARMIRE 20,249 20,249
Intangible assets mEEE 39 -
20,288 20,249
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H it pE U GRIA 89 4241
Prepayment to a related company ) — e B Bk 1 &) TR 3008 3,600 -
Amount due from a subsidiary JiEUg — FEI BT BB A R Y R IE 22,313 -
26,002 4,241
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables H b e 5RIA 2yl 1174
Amount due to a subsidiary FEF—FEI BT B A R MR IE = 8,367
24 9,541
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE(BE)FE 25,761 (5,300)
Net assets EEFE 46,049 14,949
EQUITY =
Share capital &N 15,840 -
Reserves (Note) s () 30,209 14,949
Total equity B 46,049 14,949

R2018F6 B 13 B EE ESHE RIRET)E -

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 13 June
2018.

Tong Tang Joseph & & Tsui Wing Tak #R 5=
Director 8% Director £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows:

21. RQTHERRE @)

fat
ARAMREESBIT -

Accumulated

Share premium losses Total reserves

RGRE ES - afRE

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$°000

FET FET FHET

At 1 April 2016 201644 B 1 A - - -

Loss for the year FNEE - (300) (300)

Reorganisation® HH 20,249 - 20,249

Dividend paid (Note 10) BERRE (A 10) - (5,000) (5,000)

At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R2017F3A31B K&

2017F481H 20,249 (5,300) 14,949

Loss for the year FRNEE - (16,304) (16,304)
Issue of shares under Share Offer RIERD B E 21T

(Note 24(iv)) (Bt 72 24(iv)) 57,816 - 57,816

Share issuance expenses (Note 24(iv)) &7 BT FSE (5T 24(iv)) (14,372) - (14,372)

Capitalisation issue (Note 24(iif)) B AL BT (BT 24(iii) (11,880) - (11,880)

At 31 March 2018 R20185E3A31H 51,813 (21,604) 30,209

Share premium of HK$20,249,000 represents the difference between the
carrying value of TREE Limited acquired on 29 July 2016 pursuant to the
Reorganisation over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company

* [i% 17 3% {& 20,249,000 7T 48 722016 K 7 A 29
BB EMATKE RS BR AR MNEREE
BRI E EREE M TR A

issued in exchange thereof. MEZZERE -
28. COMMITMENTS 28. AEiE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEAREIE
At the end of each reporting period, the Group had the following RERER RNEEBHABINTER
capital commitments: HHE
2018 2017
2018 ¢ 20174
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Contracted but not provided for: DELBEREE
Expenditure in respect of purchase of BEWME  BELRE
property, plant and equipment EERNRX - 480
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

28. COMMITMENTS (continued) 28. EIE @)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) RKEHERIE
The Group leases its office, warehouses, shop premises and AEBERBEEHEERERLE
equipment under operating leases. The leases have varying lease BE - mELkRE  ZEHEABT
terms and renewal rights. Certain leases of shop premises EMHEMR R ERE D THEEE
includes contingent rentals which are determined by applying the BEBRANETESLASHE
pre-determined percentages to gross receipts less the basic HMEABESEEFNSAHEE - REW
rentals of the respective leases. At the end of each reporting EHIR  AEBERBETARESEH
period, the total future minimum lease payments payable by the ERMNHARRKEHEENZKBERN
Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: T
2018 2017
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FETT FAET
Within one year —F R 11,348 8,992
In the second to fifth years RE_FEERF 10,837 11,166
22,185 20,158
29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 BEAERS
The Group's accounting policies on related parties are disclosed in Note ANEBEBEE TN e REREERKE
2.21. In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in 221 - B EHEREEMM ST HENS
these financial statements, the Group had the following material 5 B 7 6N REBHERBEH S QET T
transactions with related parties: FEAXS
(a) During the year, the related parties that had transactions with the (a) AAFE SEREERITSSOEE
Group were as follows : HHF
Name of related parties Relationship with the Group
BE S BB AL EWER
Tiptop Ultimate holding company
Sl XERFERR A T
Mr. Tong Director of the Company and the controlling
shareholder of Tiptop
EEAE RATREFREBTBZIERRR
Ms. Babington Director of the Company
Babington Z + RARES
Ms. Haslock Director of the Company
Haslock 22 & RAREE
American Tree, Ltd. (“American Tree") Controlled by Ms. Haslock
American Tree, Ltd. ([ American Tree ) 5 Haslock 22 3241

Trading (China) Limited (Formerly known as “Tree (China) Limited") Controlled by Ms. Haslock

B 5 (HhB)ARAT (B [ A% (FED)BERARD 5% Haslock Z 12 1

AE Majoris Business Development Company Limited (“AE Majoris”) ~ Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, a director of the Company
ARCEBERERAG ([ARRED RARRNBEFIRBRT L
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e B RRME

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) During the year, the transactions with a related party of the
Group carried in the ordinary course of business were as

29.

RS ®)

(b)

RAFE  BAEE—-ZEHSER
BEEBBRETETHIZNT

follows:
2018 2017
2018 F 20174
HKS$'000 HK$°000
FET FAET
American Tree Sale of goods ERES 298 -
American Tree License fee income R B A 24 -

Pursuant to a licence agreement dated 1 June 2015 entered
among TREE Limited, American Tree and Ms. Haslock, TREE
Limited has granted American Tree an exclusive royalty-free
licence to use certain of the Group's trademarks and intellectual
property rights in the United States of America and Canada for an
initial period of 20 years (the “Licence Period”) for annual revenue-
based licence fee. During the year ended 31 March 2017, no
licence fee income has been recognised by the Group as American
Tree has not yet commenced its retail business. Pursuant to the
Supplemental Licence Deed dated 16 December 2016 entered
among the same parties, the Licence Period commenced on 1 June
2015 shall expire on one day preceding the listing date and shall
be automatically renewed for the second term commencing on the
listing date and expiring on one day preceding the third
anniversary of the listing date, which may then be extended
automatically for successive further terms of three years each.
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e MR ME

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 9. BEEAERS#E)
(¢) Trade and other receivables from related (c) REBBAINEZREMENK
parties MIE
2018 2017
2018 2017 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables B S EWRE
American Tree American Tree 24 -
Other receivables H bW FRIE
AE Majoris* AR E 3,600 -
Trading (China) Limited H5 (FE)BRAA - 471
3,600 471

*

The amount represents the prepaid investor and public relationship
service fee to AE Majoris for the period from 1 April 2018 to 31
March 2021.

The amounts due from the related parties are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand, except for the prepayment to AE
Majoris. No balance due from related parties were either past due
or impaired.

The maximum outstanding of amounts due from related parties

* BEASEEMAREEEN A28
F4ATE R E20215E3 8318 1FH
HRIREE R AKBEREE -

BrmABA R IR FRIASN - e Uk B B
THREREER - 2B RARENRE
B o W R R U7 B0 S ER B A SOR
B

FRREWER T RIBD HAREERD

during the year is as follows: g
2018 2017
2018 £F 2017 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
American Tree American Tree 284 154
AE Majoris NS 3,600 -
Trading (China) Limited B5(hE)BRAF 476 471
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arE B AR M

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Guarantees provided by related parties

During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, Mr. Tong has
provided personal guarantees to certain banks in respect of
certain banking facilities granted to the Group, details of which
are stated in Note 22.

Key management personnel remuneration

Key management of the Group are members of the board of
directors and senior management. Included in employee benefit
expenses are key management personnel remuneration which
includes the following expenses:

29 BEEBLERZ#

(d)

(e)

BB RENER
HZE2018FER2017F3ANBILEE -
EhERAEEERSTHRIEE
mETRITREBEAER  EFEH
HEIE22 -

FTEEEASHMH
AEENTZEBRBAREFERAR
EREKE - st AEERNAXZ AN
TEERASHFHEENTSERA
%

2018 2017
20185 2017 &
HK$°000 HK$°000
FETT FET
Basic salaries and allowances A& MERL 3,710 4,409
Discretionary bonus FIBTEAL 90 145
Retirement benefit scheme contributions REFIET B 66 87
Share-based compensation expense PARR ) R EEREE R BN 5 X2 656 2,331
4,522 6,972
30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30, &4 B4 nB X
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Significant non-cash transaction (@) EXFEBRERS
As disclosed in Note 10, during the year ended 31 March 2017, an AP TR 0P R BR - OB = 2017 4F 3

interim dividend of HK$10,409,000 declared and payable to Tiptop
by TREE Limited was fully offset against the amount due from
Tiptop.

A3NHIEFE  ABBRAFEEIR
N FE A T2 T8 2+ HRA% 210,409,000
BB 2 EIEHEEWETE 2 /08 -

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BEEZHFELEEIHE
financing activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing AREBERRBEHFEANE GEE
activities can be classified as follows: m
Finance
lease liabilities Bank loans Total
RMEHESE RITER et
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FEITL FET
At1 April 2017 R2017FE4H18 - 5,236 5,236
Cash flows BE&Rhe
— Repayments - TEF0R (48) (2,814) (2,862)
— Proceeds - FriS k1A - 2,500 2,500
— Interests paid -BfRFE (14) (302) (316)
Non-cash R
— Interests accrued - FEETFI & 14 302 316
— Purchase of property, plant and -BEVE  BE
equipment ST 470 - 470
At 31 March 2018 R2018F3 A31H 422 4,922 5,344
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3N BREREERAABEFTE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial AEBRERFEEFBENEEEHPEA
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment e TEMEZWBERER - BBRERRBIEE
activities. The financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market BREE - mEBERRLRTSRR(BEF
risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). The Group's KA NMINER) - AEBNEERKRE
overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse BRSNS H A EB NP IS RIRER 28
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried AT ERZRE - RREERAAEEN
out by the senior management of the Group and approved by the board of BREEEETIEEESHME -
directors.
31.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities N EREERAGSWER
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of ERAMBARRERFR 25 2 REE R
financial position relate to the following categories of financial LWTEINEREELERBERES
assets and financial liabilities: g :
2018 2017
2018 2017 F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets TRMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BRBEREARNEEFEZ
profit or loss TREE
Cash surrender value of life ASRBHNBORSEE
insurance 1,689 1,609
Loans and receivables B R EWGRIA
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b E W IR 6,697 5,827
Pledged bank deposits BEEARITER 200 -
Bank balances and cash RITAEBRKEIRE 35,960 2,499
44,546 9,935
Financial liabilities EA= N
Financial liabilities measured at REERATEC BB E
amortised cost
Trade and other payables g 5 R E AT FRIE 8,392 9,680
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 5,344 7,556
13,736 17,236
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arE B AR M

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR N BEERABEERAALEES
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) (&)
31.2 Credit risk 312 EEER

fim

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and bank
deposits and trade and other receivables. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets is limited to
the carrying amount at the reporting dates as summarised in Note
311

Trade receivables at the reporting dates were mainly due from
customers and payment vendors in cooperation with the Group.
The credit risk for trade receivables is considered negligible as the
counterparties have a good track record of credit with the Group
and there were no recent history of default in relation to these
parties.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade and other receivables regularly and at the end of
each reporting periods to ensure adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. Given the constant repayment
history, the directors are of the view that the risk of default by
these counterparties is low.

At the end of the reporting periods, except for the amounts due
from related parties, the Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of customers and
counterparties.

The credit risk for bank balances is considered negligible as the
counterparties are reputable banks in Hong Kong with high quality
external credit ratings.
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BEP REAREEE FH A RBH
fEE - AXSHF IR AKEEERE
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e BRRME

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BMEEREERAAEBEG
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) (%)
31.3 Liquidity risk 313 REER

fim

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade
payables and its financial obligations, and also in respect of its
cash flow management. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants and its relationship with its bankers to
ensure that the Group maintain sufficient reserves of cash and
cash equivalents and committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities as at 31 March 2018 and 2017, based on
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting periods) and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay. When the creditor has a choice of when the
liability is settled, the liability is included on the basis of the
earliest date when the Group can be required to pay. Where the
settlement of the liability is in instalments, each instalment is
allocated to the earliest period in which the Group is committed to

pay.

Specifically, for bank borrowings which contain a repayment on
demand clause which can be exercised at the bank's sole
discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on the
earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, that is if
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect.

D T B 5 [ KB B XA IR
TS ERMEEAECHAENE
THREEZRRER - AEEEEER
BHRNFEREMBEE UK
Ren8ER T EAERDESR
o AN S5 [B BB S TE B B YR 3R A AT
BHNRBEST R - BREBREZY
EOIE I B B B RARTTHO B R - AR
RAREEFRENRS MRS EFE
MFERARNE RS BREEIG A
BMERE  NENEEHRESOR
BEEHFK -

TX AR 20184 K& 20174F3 A31H -
rEBSREE s FBELHEA -
DRBEAFTERERE(BEAEGH
MERFEOFENR  ERZBF
T BIREBARNBRTNEGE

ARAEEABEHNRZ&ZFR
2% - MEEAGEREREEEE
HIRE - WF A ERR RSB ER
EENEFEAPAR MLHEZEEA
PHIEE  BEERERAEBAE
BEENZFHEAR-

LER  SREERTIZERBBT
R ERERGHRNRITEE  Z
DITRREERARENRF IR (G
BRE TR BT 3R 5| BIVRRY R O R 0 R 15
M) FIRB IR
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e B RRME

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

N. MBEREERAAEBE

(%)

fein

31.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) 313 RBESRER®)
Total
Over 1 year Over 2 years contractual
Within 1 year but within butwithin  undiscounted Carrying
or on demand 2years 5years amount amount
BA1F BR2FE  ARNKRFR
1ERFRER BR2%ER BRSER Bew fREE
HK$ 000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FHET T TET TET TET
At 31 March 2018 R8F3IANA
Trade and other payables B5 R EEMTE 8,39 - - 8392 8,392
Interest-bearing borrowings ) 5,029 107 259 5395 5344
13421 107 259 13,781 13,736
At 31 March 2017 RE3ANA
Trade and other payables 2o REMENTE 9,680 - - 9,680 9,680
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 7,556 - - 7,556 7,556
17,23 - - 17,236 17,236

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with repayment on demand clause based on agreed

scheduled repayments set out in the bank loan agreements. The

amounts include interest payment computed using contractual

rates. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with the loan
covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments of the
loans and does not consider it probable that the bank will exercise
its discretion to demand repayment for so long as the Group

continues to meet these requirements. The directors believe that

these bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the

scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank loan agreements.

TREGARIBRTERBHENZEER
FHEIERE R YW AR EREE G
RERITEBENI DT - ZFHA
BRENAAONERGFEOR SR - &
SEEHERASERRHEZET
W—EHREER  URRREAEH
BEBTZERTE  RITBTKRTHE
TEERBREERER - EFHE -
ZERITEEBRERITESR B #
PRERRRTEIE R A HIEE -

Total
Within Over1year Over 2 years contractual
1year or but within butwithin  undiscounted
on demand 2years 5years amount
1R BB1EF BE2F  RNKRFR
FRER  BR2ER BRSER Bew
HK8'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET FET FET
At 31 March 2018 RNBFEIANA
Bank borrowings RITIEE 2,905 825 1445 5175
At 31 March 2017 RMTE3A3NE
Bank borrowings RITEE 4,330 2352 473 7.7%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

314

315

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in the market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
primarily from interest-bearing bank borrowings and finance lease
arrangement. Borrowings bearing variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk. As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the
exposure to interest rates for the Group’s bank borrowings is
considered immaterial.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and majority of the
transactions are denominated and settled in its functional
currency, HK$, except for certain overseas purchases, bank
balances, bank borrowings which are denominated in USD.

Foreign currency risk arises when future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The following
table details the Group’s material exposure at the reporting dates
to foreign currency risk arising from recognised assets and

e MR ME

3N BREREERAAEBEGTE

(#)

31.4 FZEEM
FERKESRIAZ AR EELSE
eRETEMBFERNE M HREE
2R e AREBZAERBEERR
ATERITEERMERERHE - ¥
PHEFEMEETASERRSERE S
MENEER - 120184 & 201743
H31 EI C AREBRIRITEEAEEZ
FIRE B EM -

31.5 SMEE & B
AEBMESAEBELER - B
BRBHUE NS TEHE R 4
B M TIENEE  BITERUK
SITHE A ZETTEHE -

RARZEERIRCHREERE
BXIFAERE 2 EERTER - &
GELINERR - NEEHBMUAE
B ER NI ERFHEN DR
BENRBEMEENERINER R Z

liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional HEEHNNRTX
currency of the Group:
2018 2017
2018 5 2017 4
usD’000 uSD000
FEx FET
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRBHORELRSEE 215 207
Trade and other receivables 2 5 K H U IE 116 169
Bank balances and cash RITHR IR ® 33 60
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE (75) (98)
Overall net exposure AL [ B A HEF ER 289 338

The Group does not hedge its foreign currency risks with USD as
Hong Kong dollar is pegged to USD and thus foreign exchange
exposure is considered as minimal. As at 31 March 2018 and
2017, the Group did not have significant foreign currency risk from
its operation.

ES T EETES  INERB IR A
BN MAEBY EEREETER
B HNEE LB o FA20184F )2 20174E 3 B
N B AEBELEP I ARBEEFARI
PE @ Bz o

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED & X2 i 5 PR A & Annual Report 4F % 2018



146
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arE B AR M

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
31.6 Fairvalue measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

The following table presents financial assets measured at fair
value in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups
financial assets into three levels based on the relative reliability
of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these
financial assets. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset is categorised in its entirety is based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position on a recurring basis are grouped

MERAKMEERAAEBEE

(#)

316 REGEHBRRREANA
EEE
TRREDRBEEE 2540
BRAEANBRAABENEZSRE
EouRBREHERSSREEY
DR EEFE RO EAS SR8
ﬁTﬁﬁF'%ﬁﬂﬁéaﬁﬁz
B ARBEEESBUTEE

>

F1E: HRAEERABNERTS
HRE CRIEHE)

FIE: EESEEMAEX(BIE

%)E}Z%ﬁ%(ﬁﬂ?ﬁé{%’fﬁ%&ﬁ)

BREOBAER(TERE
%1}5ﬁ’7AE’J§ET) &

FIE - WIHFERABENTISHIE
MWEEHBENBAER (B
FERNBAER) o

TREEBRRBRANEEREANNB
MER  BERYALEBEFZES
EREENREEBREALE -

AR A BRSO R AR R A
ARABEMENEREEERAEE

N

into the fair value hierarchy as follows: R FENT -
2018 2017
2018 2017
Level 2 Level 2
F2E %2
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets designated at fair EBEAEALBEA
value through profit or loss ERNEREE
— Cash surrender value of life - ASREBHBRLARS
insurance BE 1,689 1,609
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

31.6 Fairvalue measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)
The fair value of the cash surrender value of life insurance was
determined based on the valuation provided by the counterparty
financial institution by reference to the quoted price of the
underlying units held.

During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2
and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard the
ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in
the long term.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group
monitors its capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. The
gearing ratio is calculated based on total interest-bearing borrowings
divided by the total equity at each reporting date. In order to maintain or
adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt financing or sell assets to
reduce debt.

The gearing ratio at each reporting date was:

31.

32.

e MR ME

BEREREERAAEES

(#)

316 REGEHBRRREANA
EEE®)

(il

>

ASRBOBORSEEZAAEE
DREHFHESRBEEMEHR MG
B Y2EMEARBEMLHREN
BE -

HE2018F K 2017F3ANHIEFE
FIEEFBZEATEARBETE
R MEEAEIERNFEIES
Hj °

EXEE
AEENESEE R RAREAREORE
B - BUBBRRE R B MESRE

ARfAE - YRR HEEARBIARITK
RREBHE-

REEEEE BRI EARRE - WERELHE
ANEBETHE - ARERBEEERABL
REREARE - BERBLEIRESRE
HEO B BEER MBS EAE - B
MRS R - AEE T LR ERBRR
IS 28R - BITHRD - BRHER
BEXHEEENRDET -

RERESAHNBEERBILER -

2018 2017
20185 2017 &
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FET

Total interest-bearing borrowings WIHEEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 4,922 7,556
Finance lease liabilities MEHEAE 422 -
5,344 7,556
Total Equity B 49,315 11,357
Gross gearing ratio (%) BEESBLEE (%) 10.8% 66.5%
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY BREE

A summary of results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last four ~ AEBERBENEAMBREE 2 LEUREERE
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements &I 2 JhiHsk B CEZG AT HREK - SPIWTF ¢
is set out below:

RESULTS ey
2018 2017 2016 2015
2018 FF 2017 & 2016 4 20154
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FEIL FET FEIL
Revenue U & 79,073 77,316 81,877 65,252
Cost of sales SHE AR (25,515) (26,303) (27,029) (20,959)
Gross profit E 53,558 51,013 54,848 44,293
Other income A 134 286 272 77
Selling and marketing expenses HENTIGHERST (34,128) (32,806) (30,148) (27,472)
Administrative expenses THRAX (11,597) (12,118) (10,940) (8,532)
Listing-related expenses sl (15,747) (10,066) (1,289) -
Share-based compensation expense VAR5 7 250 B0 357 B B <2 (656) (2,331) (2,487) -
Finance costs EURGID RN (316) (140) (165) (157)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax METEB AT (B51E), %R (8,752) (6,162) 10,091 8,209
Income tax expense e (1,350) (986) (2,297) (1,419)
(Loss)/Profit and total comprehensive & RZANA T EHIFEA
(loss)/income for the year G (E5E), B8R R
attributable to equity holders of 2HE (BB WEEHE
the Company (10,102) (7.148) 7,79 6,790
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2018 2017 2016 2015
2018 £F 2017 2016 F 20154F
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FHET FHET
Total assets wEE 64,716 29,836 43,061 32,146
Total liabilities FN=N 15,401 18,479 11,478 10,844
Total equity s 49,315 11,357 31,583 21,302
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